
_________________________________________ 
City Council Agenda – Monday, April 21, 2014 
Page 1 of 2 

PRELIMINARY AGENDA  
REGULAR SESSION 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
JESSIE MAYS COMMUNITY HALL 

30975 NW Hillcrest Street 
Monday, April 21, 2014 – 7:00 P.M. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER  
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. CONSENT AGENDA:  (The items on the Consent Agenda are normally 

considered in a single motion. Any item may be removed for separate 
consideration upon request by any member of the Council.) 

 
A. Approval of regular session agenda 

B. Approval of minutes of 04/07/2014 Council meeting 

5.  PUBLIC COMMENT: (Persons wishing to speak on matters not on the agenda 
may be recognized at this time.  Speakers must complete a “Public Comment 
Registration form” on the information table and return it to the City Recorder.  
You are not required to give your address when speaking to the City Council, 
only your name.  Presentations are limited to five minutes.) 

   
6. STAFF REPORTS 
 Verbal staff reports will be provided by the Public Works Director and Chief of 

Police. Library Director Debbie Brodie is out on leave. 
 
7. PRESENTATION: 

A. Pinning of police badges for newly appointed Cadets: Nicole Fontana and 
Dan Buckley. 

 
8. PUBLIC HEARING: 
 None Scheduled 
 
9. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Review of proposed salary ranges for 2014/2015 and adoption of Resolution 
No. 1828 approving the new salary range schedule 

B. Interview and adoption of Resolution No: 1829 appointing Garth Eimers to the 
North Plains Planning Commission 

C. Adopt Resolution No. 1830 extending the franchise with NW Natural Gas 
D. Adopt Resolution No. 1831 approving use of intellectual property related to 

the Elephant Garlic Festival by the NPEA 
E. Discussion of donation policy for funds raised at community events 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 1 of 96



_________________________________________ 
City Council Agenda – Monday, April 21, 2014 
Page 2 of 2 

F. Accept the hotel feasibility report prepared by Kennedy and Mohn 
G. Adopt Resolution No. 1832 naming the new park on Curtis Street 
H. Review of March Check Register 

 
10. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
 None Scheduled 
11. ORDINANCES: 
 
 FIRST READING:   

None Scheduled 
 

SECOND READING: 
A. Second reading and adoption of Ordinance No. 422— An Ordinance of the 

City Council of the City of North Plains, Oregon, temporarily prohibiting the 
location of medical marijuana facilities within the City of North Plains 

 
12. CITY MANAGER REPORT 
 
13. COUNCIL REPORTS 

A. Council reports will be provided by the Mayor and City Councilors on 
meetings attended and other items. 

B. May 2014 Council Calendar 
  

14. ADVICE/INFORMATION ITEMS: 
 City Wide Garages Sale on Saturday, May 3—all over North Plains 
 BBQ on the Porch at the NP Senior Center from 10:30-2:00 on May 3. 
 North Plains Community Garden Club Plant Sale at Jessie Mays from 8:00 

a.m. to 4:00 p.m. at Jessie Mays Tennis Courts on Saturday, May 3. 
 May Clean-Up Day at Jessie Mays at 8:00 a.m. on Saturday May 10. 
 Sandy River Rafting Trip: Register on-line. Taking off from Jessie Mays 

parking lot at 8:30 a.m. on Saturday, May 24. 
 
15. ADJOURNMENT: 

***** 
North Plains City Council meetings are accessible for disabled individuals.  The City will 
also endeavor to provide services for persons with impaired hearing or vision and other 
services, if requested, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  To obtain services, please 
call City Hall at (503) 647-5555  

***** 
 

The following City Council Meetings are scheduled to be held at Jessie Mays 
Community Hall at 30975 NW Hillcrest Street, North Plains, Oregon. 

 
The meetings will be held on the following dates at 7:00 p.m.: 

 
Monday, May 5, 2014 Monday, May 19, 2014 Monday, June 2, 2014 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 2 of 96



__________________________________ 
City Council Minutes – Monday, April 7, 2014 
Page 1 of 6 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MINUTES REGULAR SESSION 

Jessie Mays Community Hall 
30975 NW Hillcrest Street 

Monday, April 7, 2014 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor David Hatcher called the Regular Session of the City 
Council to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Hatcher led the flag salute.  
 
3. ROLL CALL: Mayor David Hatcher; Council President Teri Lenahan; Councilors: 

Michael Broome, Michael Demagalski, Charlynn Newton, Robert Kindel, Jr., and 
Glen Warren 

 
Staff present: City Manager Martha DeBry, Chief of Police Bill Snyder, Finance 
Director Rachael Lembo, City Recorder Margaret Reh 

 
4. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

A. Approval of regular session agenda 
B. Approval of minutes of 03/17/2014 Council meeting 

 
Motion by Broome and seconded by Warren to approve the Consent Agenda. The 
motion was approved unanimously. 
 
5.  PUBLIC COMMENT:  
 
Judy Dreis of 31001 NW Highland Court, addressed the Council regarding barking dogs 
in the neighborhood. Ms. Dreis has brought this issue before the Council a few months 
ago. She was wondering what steps have been taking to resolve the issue. DeBry stated 
she would follow up with staff on the issue. 
 
6. STAFF REPORTS 
 
Police Dept. Chief Snyder reported that all the officers went through the Emergency 
Vehicle Operations Course (EVOC) training with Hillsboro.  
 
Written reports were submitted by the Public Works Director and the Library Director and 
were part of the Council Packet. 
 
7. PRESENTATION: 

A. Proclamation: April 21-26, 2014 National Community Development Week by 
the National Community Development Association. 

 
Kindel stated the importance of recognizing this organization with this proclamation and 
that every year the collected proclamations are sent out to Washington D.C. thanking 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 3 of 96



__________________________________ 
City Council Minutes – Monday, April 7, 2014 
Page 2 of 6 

them for keeping the program alive. Motion by Kindel and seconded by Demagalski to 
adopt the proclamation. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 

B. Presentation to the North Plains Elementary School of funds raised at the 
benefit dance on March 22 and the matching funds from the City Council. 

 
Councilor Michael Broome reported that between the money raised at the dance on 
March 22, 2014 and the matching funds from the Council, a check will be presented to 
the North Plains Elementary School in the amount of $1,072.00. Broome had invited 
representatives from the school to be present at this Council meeting but they were not 
able to attend. 

 
8. PUBLIC HEARING: 

A. Public hearing to present and discuss the proposed 2013-14 Supplemental 
Budget and receive comments from interested persons. 

 
Mayor Hatcher requested DeBry to present the staff report before going into the public 
hearing. The Supplemental Budget was prepared and posted on-line as part of the 
Council Packet. It was noticed in the newspaper. 
 
Mayor Hatcher opened the public hearing at 7:12 and asked if there were any comments 
from the audience. Hearing none, Mayor Hatcher closed the public hearing at 7:12:30. 
 
9. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Adoption of Resolution No. 1819 approving the 2013-14 Supplemental Budget 
Finance Manager Lembo was present and answered clarifying questions asked by the 
Council.  Formal adoption was required by resolution to update the budget document. 
Motion by Warren and seconded by Demagalski to approve Resolution No. 1819 
approving the 2013-14 Supplemental Budget. Hatcher asked for discussion. Lenahan 
stated we needed to amend the resolution to include the change in the General Fund 
Contingency from $65,000 to $85,000 and to include the Special Payments fund of 
$185,000 for the URA Loan as discussed.  Motion by Lenahan. Second by Warren to 
amend the motion to include these changes.  The second motion to add the line items 
was approved unanimously.  Hatcher called for a vote on the appended motion which 
was also approved unanimously. 

B. Discussion of City Manager Weekly Report distributed March 27, 2014 
regarding budget issues raised. 

Hatcher had requested the Council discuss information that was shared in a weekly 
report submitted by the City Manager to the Council.  DeBry stated that once staff 
received all the numbers for the fiscal year, the budget was showing $90,000 difference 
from what had been projected and anticipate flat revenues moving forward. It was 
mentioned that management may need to reevaluate full-time staff costs. Staff has been 
reviewing options and will need to take more severe action in cutting costs. It was 
thought that there would be more revenue from new builds but those won’t be received 
for at least another year. Discussion ensued and there were many varying opinions.   

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 4 of 96



__________________________________ 
City Council Minutes – Monday, April 7, 2014 
Page 3 of 6 

C. Discussion of credits, reimbursements, and costs associated with DR Horton 
subdivision on Curtis Street and Highland Court. 

 
Mayor Hatcher had requested a spreadsheet of actual costs and credits associated with 
the Highland Court development and DR Horton. Lembo assembled a packet of the SDC 
costs per build and the cost of improvements for the project.  A discussion occurred, and 
no action taken as this was informational only. 

D. Approval of Resolution No. 1824 appointment to Budget Committee: Marrina 
Abeln 

 
E. Approval of Resolution No. 1825 appointment to Budget Committee: Orvalle 

Lengele 
 

F. Approval of Resolution No. 1826 appointment to Budget Committee: Vernon 
Epling 

 
G. Approval of Resolution No. 1827 appointment to Budget Committee: Marilyn 

Firth 
 
DeBry presented the staff report regarding the openings on the Budget Committee. 
Applicant Marrina Abeln was not requested to attend the meeting since she was being 
re-appointed. Council interviewed Lengele, Epling and Firth. 
 
Motion by Newton and seconded by Warren to approve Resolution Nos. 1824 to 1827 
appointing applicants to the North Plains Budget Committee. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 

H. Discussion of Kaybern Street lot options for downtown area 
 
DeBry presented the staff report. The North Plains Chamber of Commerce had asked 
about converting the Kaybern property into a parking lot for the downtown area. 
Discussion ensued. Staff was advised to table the discussion for a year. 
   

I. Discussion of North Plains Public Library donating library fines collecting 
during National Library Week to the North Plains Food Pantry. 

 
Library Director Brodie submitted a request for approval to donate one week’s intake of 
library fines to the North Plains Food Pantry.  Many WCCLS libraries participate in 
collecting canned goods for their local food banks during National Library Week.  Brodie 
is suggesting in lieu of canned goods, to donate the equivalent amount received in fines 
being paid during National Library Week, April 13 through April 19, 2014 to the North 
Plains Food Pantry. 
 
Motion by Kindel. Second by Demagalski to approve the donation of the equivalent 
amount in library fines received during National Library Week 2014 to the North Plains 
Food Pantry.  The motion was approved unanimously. 
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 5 of 96



__________________________________ 
City Council Minutes – Monday, April 7, 2014 
Page 4 of 6 

10. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
A. Discussion on design and installation of permanent signage for businesses in 

the downtown area. 
 
DeBry presented the staff report. The installation of directional signage for the downtown 
area has been discussed at past Council meetings and URA meetings.  No final design 
has been selected nor have funds been set aside. The Chamber of Commerce was 
asked to comment on the design previously shown to the Council. Dan Parsons of 
Impact Sign provided a new design for consideration. Wayne Holm of Oregon Canadian 
Forest Products has since expressed a willingness to donate materials for the project if 
wood is selected as the material of choice. The Chamber would like to see this move 
forward. Discussion ensued. It was decided to table this discussion until the Chamber of 
Commerce had further comments. 
 

B. Discussion and approval of specific draft city policies from number 650-705 
 
Council went through policies 650-705. All polices were accepted with a few minor 
changes to Policy No.702: Driving Safety and Policy No. 705: Violence in the Workplace. 
This was the last group of policies that needed to be reviewed. Staff will make all the 
suggested changes that were discussed over the past seven months and bring the 
Policy Manual back to Council for approval. 
 
11. ORDINANCES: 
  

FIRST READING: 
A. Introduction and first reading of Ordinance No. 422— An Ordinance of the City 

Council of the City of North Plains, Oregon, temporarily prohibiting the location 
of medical marijuana facilities within the City of North Plains. 

 
DeBry presented the staff report for Ordinance No. 422 and stated it needed to be 
adopted by May 1, 2014 to enact the moratorium supported by Senate Bill 1531. There 
was some discussion before a motion by Demagalski was made. The motion was 
seconded by Lenahan to read Ordinance No. 422 by title only for the first time. 
 
Mayor Hatcher read the Ordinance by title only for the first time. 
 

SECOND READING: 
None Scheduled 

 
12. CITY MANAGER REPORT 
DeBry stated she had nothing further to report than what had already been discussed at 
this meeting. 
 
13. COUNCIL REPORTS 
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 6 of 96



__________________________________ 
City Council Minutes – Monday, April 7, 2014 
Page 5 of 6 

Mayor Hatcher had a stack of flyers announcing the Volunteer Recognition Dinner that 
needed to be distributed door-to-door. Four of the Councilors accepted a packet of flyers 
to distribute in a designated area. 
 
Councilor Broome reported he is continuing to find donors for the dances that will begin 
again in September. He is hoping to obtain sponsors for each dance to assist with costs. 
 
Councilor Warren inquired if the Police Chief’s report could contain more information and 
depth to reflect what is happening in this town. 
 
Mayor Hatcher mentioned that three of the Councilors terms are expiring on December 
31, 2014.  He inquired when the timeline for submitting paperwork for elections will be 
posted. Reh informed Council she will be attending an Election Review meeting on April 
16.  Information will be posted after that meeting. 
 
Lenahan reported she attended the Library Board meeting in March. The Board is 
rewriting the artwork and exhibit policy. A patron had complained stating one of the 
pieces of an art exhibit was offensive to him. Lenahan stated the Board is ensuring the 
First Amendment will not being violated within the policy.  
 
The Parks Board and Boyles has submitted a scope of work to several architectural 
firms. One came out to North Plains on April 5 and did a walk around with Park Board 
members Lenahan, LaBonte and Nunnenkamp at no cost. 
 
Lenahan informed Council it is time to work on the performance evaluation for the City 
Manager. City staff will not be involved in the process this year. An executive session will 
need to be scheduled in the next month to discuss. 
 
Kindel inquired about the status with the Kenny Field project—he heard it was on hold 
again. DeBry confirmed it is on hold as a decision has not been made between the 
developer and owner regarding the Field residence. 
 
Kindel also inquired about the status of the low land in the property around McKay 
Creek. Council discussed this issue in a past session. No further direction has taken 
place. 
 
14. ADVICE/INFORMATION ITEMS: 

 Thursday, April 10: Volunteer Recognition Spaghetti Dinner at Jessie Mays @ 
6:30. 

 Saturday, April 12: Kukatonon Children’s African Dance Troupe at Jessie 
Mays @ 1:00 (rescheduled to this date because of the snow in February) 

 Saturday, April 19: Spring Country Classic Dance sponsored by NP Senior 
Center at Jessie Mays @ 7:30 p.m. 
 

15. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  
A. Consider convening in Executive Session under ORS 192.660(2)(e) to conduct 

deliberations with persons designated by the governing body to negotiate real 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 7 of 96



__________________________________ 
City Council Minutes – Monday, April 7, 2014 
Page 6 of 6 

property transactions. 
 
Hatcher convened into Executive Session at 9:45 p.m. 
 
Council exited out of Executive Session at 9:55 p.m. Council discussed the direction for 
staff regarding the OSP property on West Union Road. No decision was made. 

 
15. ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Hatcher adjourned the meeting at 10:00 p.m. 

 
 
______________________________ 
David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
 
_______________________________ Date approved ______________ 
Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 8 of 96



 

Agenda Item No. 9A 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date: April 15, 2014 
To: City Council 
From: Martha DeBry, City Manager 
Subject: Resolution No.1828 adjusting salary ranges 
 
 

Request:  Council consider adjusting salary ranges for City employees. 
 
Background:  The City has an adopted schedule of salaries which can be found at 
http://cityofnp.org/files/6013/9361/6915/salary_schedule.pdf   After reviewing the schedule 
staff is recommending that it be simplified and expanded to include training classes.  The 
following recommendations are proposed in the 2014/15 budget: 
 

I. All ranges consist of 5 steps instead of 6, which is more consistent with other public 
agencies.  There is no requirement that the City is consistent with other agencies 
but it makes apples-to-apples comparisons of salary an easier process. 

II. Step A of the existing ranges for following classifications is eliminated: City 
Manager, Police Chief, Police Officer, and Account Clerk II.  Step A was referred to 
as a training step.  For professional positions with contracts such as City Manager 
or Police Chief this is not needed or appropriate.  New Police Officers who have not 
completed the police academy will be paid a lower rate that is not part of the officer 
pay range.  

III. Step E of the existing ranges for the following classifications is eliminated: Utility 
Worker III, Utility Worker II. Step E was originally considered a “bonus” step and not 
automatically earned through performance.  Several long-term employees in the 
Public Works Department have never acquired the highest step.  Because the 
classifications have above average compensation for the area, it is recommended 
the top step be eliminated. Included in Council’s packet are the survey summaries 
prepared by Milliman.  

IV. Step E of the existing Public Works Director range be eliminated.  The top step has 
never been awarded and to maintain some internal alignment of salaries between 
management classes, it is recommended the top step be eliminated.  

V. Training classifications of Utility Worker I and Account Clerk I are created at 10% 
below the journey level of Utility Worker II and Account Clerk II respectively. 

 
None of these changes will cause an employees pay rate to increase or decrease.   
 
Recommendation:  Council adopt Resolution No.1828 approving the new salary range 
schedule. 
 
Sample Motions:  I move to adopt Resolution No.1828. 
  

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 9 of 96

http://cityofnp.org/files/6013/9361/6915/salary_schedule.pdf


  EXISTING RANGES          

  A B C D E F  

 SALARIED EMPLOYEES  
 
FTE   PROPOSED STEP RANGES     

   1 2 3 4 5  

 CITY MANAGER (Exempt)            

 Annually   1 71714 75,300 79,065 83,018 87,169 91,528  

 Bi-weekly   2758 2,896 3,041 3,193 3,353 3,520  

 Hourly   34.48 36.2 38.01 39.91 41.91 44.00  

           

 POLICE CHIEF (Exempt)            

 Annually   1 63994 67,193 70,553 74,080 77,784 81,674  

 Bi-weekly   2461 2,584 2,714 2,849 2,992 3,141  

 Hourly   30.77 32.3 33.92 35.62 37.4 39.27  

           

 POLICE OFFICER              

 Annually   1.5 49065 51,518 54,094 56,799 59,639 62,620  

 Bi-weekly   1887 1,981 2,081 2,185 2,294 2,408  

 Hourly   23.59 24.77 26.01 27.31 28.67 30.11  

           

 PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR (Exempt)          

 Annually   1  69775 73,264 76,927 80,774 84,812 89,053 

 Bi-weekly    2683 2,818 2,959 3,107 3,262 3,425 

 Hourly    33.55 35.22 36.98 38.83 40.78 42.81 

           

 UTILITY WORKER III            

 Annually   1  47159 49,517 51,993 54,592 57,322 60,188 

 Bi-weekly    1813 1,905 2,000 2,100 2,205 2,315 

 Hourly    22.67 23.81 25 26.25 27.56 28.94 

           

 UTILITY WORKER II            

 Annually   1  37754 39,641 41,623 43,704 45,889 48,184 

 Bi-weekly    1452 1,525 1,601 1,681 1,765 1,853 

 Hourly    18.15 19.06 20.01 21.01 22.06 23.17 

           

 UTILITY WORKER I            

 Annually   0  34,073 35,866 37754 39,641 41,623  

 Bi-weekly    1,310 1,379 1452 1,525 1,601  

 Hourly    16.38 17.24 18.15 19.06 20.01  

           

 ACCOUNT CLERK II            

 CITY RECORDER            

 Annually   1 35051 36,804 38,644 40,576 42,605 44,735  

 Bi-weekly   1348 1,416 1,486 1,561 1,639 1,721  

 Hourly   16.85 17.69 18.58 19.51 20.48 21.51  

           
  

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 10 of 96



 ACCOUNT CLERK I     PROPOSED RANGE      

 DEPUTY CITY RECORDER     1 2 3 4 5   

 Annually   0  33382 35051 36,804 38,644 40,576  

 Bi-weekly    1283 1348 1,416 1,486 1,561  

 Hourly    16.05 16.85 17.69 18.58 19.51  

 HOURLY EMPLOYEES            

 Laborer  2  10.00 10.50 11.03 11.58 12.16  

 Skilled Laborer 1  15.00 15.75 16.54 17.36 18.23  

 Clerical  1 10.00 10.50 11.03 11.58 12.16 12.76  

 Library Clerks  4 11.20 11.76 12.35 12.97 13.62 14.30  

 IT Asst/Cataloger  2 15.39 16.16 16.97 17.82 18.71 19.64  

 Volunteer Coordinator/ 
Youth Librarian  2 18.17 19.08 20.03 21.04 22.09 23.19  

 Library Director  1 23.30 24.80 26.04 27.34 28.71 30.15  

 Management Analyst  1  15.39 16.16 16.97 17.82 18.71  

 Finance Manager  1  55.00          

 Police Academy Cadet 0  21.23      

         

 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 11 of 96



 
Resolution No. 1828 
Adopted: April 21, 2014 
Salary Range Schedule 

 RESOLUTION NO. 1828 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, REVISING COMPENSATION RANGES FOR CITY EMPLOYEE 

CLASSIFICATIONS, FOR FISCAL YEAR 2014 - 2015 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has established salary ranges for all allocated 
positions; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has reviewed a 2014 survey of public employer compensation 
prepared by Milliman; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City maintains a 6 step (A-F) salary range which is broader than 

ranges used by most area agencies; and 
 
WHEREAS, step A is typically assigned to probationary employees without 

experience; and 
 
WHEREAS, experienced professionals are rarely assigned to the probationary 

rate and in most instances are under contract with the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, step F is awarded for exceptional service which is not well defined in 

the City’s policies, and this has resulted in a skewing of interpretation of compensation 
paid by the City (i.e. while F is used for comparison reasons, most long-term employees 
are unable to obtain the final step); and 

 
WHEREAS, the creation of entry level classifications for Utility Worker, Account 

Clerk and Deputy City Recorder would reduce the City’s expenses when hiring 
inexperienced workers; and 

 
WHEREAS, progression from an entry level classification to a journey level 

classification is typically permitted as employees gain years of experience with 
satisfactory performance; and 

 
WHEREAS, a Police Cadet rate is sometimes provided to public employees who 

are selected for a Police Officer position but who have not yet attained the appropriate 
certifications for a police officer in the State of Oregon; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has the opportunity to amend its schedule without affecting 

the pay rates of current employees or increasing budgeted expenses. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, AS FOLLOWS:  
  

Section 1: The City shall use five step ranges effective July 1, 2014. 
 

Section 2: The bottom step from the following classes shall be 
eliminated:  City Manager, Police Chief, Police Officer, and 
Accounting Clerk II.  

 
Section 3: The top step from the following classes shall be eliminated:  

Public Works Director, Utility Worker III, and Utility Worker II.  
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 12 of 96



 
Resolution No. 1828 
Adopted: April 21, 2014 
Salary Range Schedule 

Section 4: Salary ranges are created for entry level classifications of 
Account Clerk, Deputy City Recorder and Utility Worker I. 

 
Section 5: A Police Cadet rate is created for employees who are required 

to attend a police academy. 
 

Section 6: This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 
adoption by the City Council. 

 

INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of April 2014. 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
BY:  _____________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
BY:  ______________________________________ 

Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 13 of 96



 

Agenda Item No.9B 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date: April 15, 2014 
To: City Council 
From: Martha DeBry, City Manager 
Subject: Interviewing Prospective Planning Commissioner and adoption of Resolution 

No. 1829 appointing Garth Eimers to the North Plains Planning Commission 
 
 

Background:  Garth Eimers has submitted an application to become a Planning 
Commissioner.  He is a resident on Cami Place and has prior Planning Commission 
experience with the City of Forest Grove.  
 
Mr. Eimers was interviewed by the Planning Commission on April 9, 2014.  The Planning 
Commission voted to recommend Mr. Eimers for the last vacancy on the Planning 
Commission. 
 
Recommendation:  Council consider appointing Mr. Garth Eimers to the Planning 
Commission.  
 
Sample Motions: 
I move to adopt Resolution No. 1829 appointing Garth Eimers to the North Plains Planning 
Commission for a term of four years ending on December 31, 2018. 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 14 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 15 of 96



 
Resolution No. 1829 
Adopted:  April 21, 2014 
Planning Commission Appointment-Eimer 

RESOLUTION NO. 1829 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, APPOINTING GARTH EIMERS TO THE NORTH PLAINS PLANNING 

COMMISSION 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of North Plains has a Planning Commission consisting of 
residents, property owners and business owners in the community; and  
 

WHEREAS, Garth Eimers completed an application for appointment; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission interviewed Mr. Eimers and 
recommended appointment to the City Council. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, that Garth Eimers is appointed to the Planning 
Commission for a four year term expiring in December 2018. 

 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
BY:  _____________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
BY:  ______________________________________ 

Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 16 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 17 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 18 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 19 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 20 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 21 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 22 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 23 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 24 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 25 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 26 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 27 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 28 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 29 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 30 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 31 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 32 of 96



 
Page 1 of 3 – Resolution No.1830 
Adopted:  April 21, 2014 
NW Natural Franchise Extension 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 1830 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON EXTENDING THE NW NATURAL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Franchise Agreement (the “Existing Agreement”) between the 
City of North Plains (“City”) and NW Natural Gas (“NWN”), set forth in Municipal Code 
Chapter 9.05 Franchise – Northwest Natural Gas shall expire by its terms on May 26, 
2014; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City and NWN have been negotiating in good faith to replace 

the Existing Agreement with a new Franchise Agreement (the “New Agreement”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the parties have not yet finalized a New Agreement in all of its 

particulars and wish to extend the current Franchise Agreement expiration term; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City must amend its Municipal Code to adopt the new franchise 

which will require actions at two Council meetings; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds the need for a longer extension period. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1. The City and NWN agree that the Existing Agreement 

shall not terminate on May 27, 2014, but shall remain 
in full force and effect, including, but not limited to the 
payment provisions there under, until such time as a 
New Agreement is submitted to and approved by the 
North Plains City Council, and becomes effective in 
accordance with its terms, in no event later than 
August 31, 2014. 

 
Section 2. That the City and NWN shall affirm this termination 

extension by signing an agreement, a copy of which 
is marked Exhibit A, attached hereto and by this 
reference incorporated herein, with the City Manager 
authorized to execute said Agreement on behalf of 
the City. 

 
Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective immediately 

upon adoption by the City Council. 
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 33 of 96



 
Page 2 of 3 – Resolution No.1830 
Adopted:  April 21, 2014 
NW Natural Franchise Extension 

INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of April, 2014. 
 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
Margaret Reh, City Recorder 

 
  

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 34 of 96



 
Page 3 of 3 – Resolution No.1830 
Adopted:  April 21, 2014 
NW Natural Franchise Extension 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 
 

NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY AND CITY OF 
NORTH PLAINS FRANCHISE TERM EXTENSION 

AGREEMENT 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Franchise Agreement (the “Existing Agreement”) between the 
City of North Plains (“City”) and Northwest Natural Gas (“NWN”), set forth in Municipal 
Code Chapter 9.05 Franchise; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City and NWN have been negotiating in good faith to replace 

the Existing Agreement with a new Franchise Agreement (the “New Agreement”) and 
have not yet finalized a New Agreement in all of its particulars, and wish to extend the 
current Franchise Agreement expiration term; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council adopted Resolution Number 1830 on April 21, 2014 

extending the current Franchise Agreement period through August 31, 2014, and finds 
the need for a longer extension period. 

. 
NOW, THEREFORE, the City and NWN agree that the Existing Agreement shall 

not terminate on May 27, 2014, but shall remain in full force and effect, including but not 
limited to the payment provisions there under, until such time as a New Agreement is 
submitted to and approved by the North Plains City Council, and becomes effective in 
accordance with its terms, in no event later than August 31, 2014. 
 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS 
 
 
 
________________________________  ______________________________ 
Martha DeBry, City Manager 
 
Date: ___________________________ Date: _________________________ 
 

 

  

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 35 of 96



 

Agenda Item No. 9D 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date: April 15, 2014 
To: City Council 
From: Martha DeBry, City Manager 
Subject: Resolution No.1831 approving use of intellectual property related to the 

Elephant Garlic Festival by the North Plains Events Association 
 
 

Request:  Council consider adopting a resolution transferring a limited non-exclusive 
license to the North Plains Event Association for use of the city’s rights in certain 
property relative to the 2014 North Plains Elephant Garlic festival. This will allow the 
North Plains Events Association (NPEA) the use of intellectual property related to the 
Elephant Garlic Festival. 
 
Background:  Recently the Chamber of Commerce entered into an agreement with the 
City of North Plains, which conveyed intellectual and physical property related to the 
Elephant Garlic Festival.  Like last year, the NPEA would like to be the host organization 
for North Plains’ only garlic festival.   
 
A draft agreement was developed by staff and reviewed by the City Attorney, and then 
forwarded to the NPEA in December.  The NPEA returned the agreement with 
substantial revisions in April.  As the City Attorney reviewed the document, he 
determined that the structure could violate the City’s purchasing rules and Oregon 
contracting rules.  These are the main concerns: 
 

 The City did not publicly bid this contract.  Because of the total revenue involved 
in operating the festival, the Attorney believes it exceeds the amount appropriate 
for a multi-year sole source professional services agreement. 

 
 Technically all the revenue earned by the festival could be defined as public 

funds, and as such would be subject to the City’s purchasing and cash 
management rules.  

 
Because planning for the August, 2014 festival is well underway and there is no 
alternative organization for running the event outside of the NPEA, the City Attorney has 
advised for this year the best of course of action would be for the City to adopt a 
resolution granting a non-exclusive license the Elephant Garlic Festival name and use 
of City property.  He prepared the attached resolution for Council’s consideration. The 
resolution provides that NPEA will provide a payment of the lesser of $2,000 or 20% of 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 36 of 96



net revenues to the City which will be held in a restricted reserve for the Elephant Garlic 
Festival.  The proposed budget document can be changed to reflect this change. 
 
In the coming months, it would be appropriate for the City to bid the festival 
management, and subsequently engage in a long-term contract. 
 
Recommendation:  Council adopt Resolution No.1831. 
 
Sample Motions:  I move to adopt Resolution No. 1831. 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 37 of 96



 
Page 1 of 2 – Resolution No. 1831 
Adopted:  April 21, 2014 

RESOLUTION NO. 1831 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, TRANSFERRING A 

LIMITED NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENSE TO THE NORTH PLAINS EVENT 

ASSOCIATION FOR USE OF THE CITY’S RIGHTS IN CERTAIN PROPERTY 

RELATIVE TO THE NORTH PLAINS ELEPHANT GARLIC FESTIVAL 

WHEREAS, the City of North Plains, Oregon, has ownership of certain property 
rights and personalty associated with the North Plains Elephant Garlic Festival which it 
wishes to license to the North Plains Events Association for that group’s use relative to 
its operation of the 2014 North Plains Elephant Garlic Festival; and 

WHEREAS, the North Plains Event Association is willing to take on the operation 
of the North Plains Elephant Garlic Festival provided it has the permitted limited use of 
the City’s property rights associated with the Festival. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON: 

Section 1. The North Plains City Council hereby issues a temporary non-
exclusive license to the North Plains Event Association (NPEA) for 
that organization’s use of the following City-owned property for the 
period between April 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014: 
1. Use of the registered name “North Plains Elephant Garlic 

Festival”; 
2. Use of the registered name “Oregon Garlic Festival”; 
3. Use of the registered domain name “funstinks.com”; 
4. Use of  a highway sign used to advertise the North Plains 

Elephant Garlic Festival; 
5. Directional signs associated with the North Plains Elephant 

Garlic Festival; and 
6. Equipment associated with North Plains Elephant Garlic Festival 

including tablecloths and miscellaneous office supplies stored 
with the North Plains Elephant Garlic Festival sign subject to 
conditions set out in Section 2 below. 

 
Section 2. The use license for the City-owned property identified in Section 1 

above is expressly conditioned on NPEA’s compliance with the 
following conditions: 
NPEA shall operate the Festival during the second weekend in 
August (Friday, Saturday and Sunday) which operation includes 
responsibility for: 
1. Effective control over all Festival events and physical facilities 

used therefor (including the Jessie Mays Community Park) in 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 38 of 96



 
Page 2 of 2 – Resolution No. 1831 
Adopted:  April 21, 2014 

addition to adjoining streets and rights-of-way; 
2. Payment for and provision of musical entertainment accessible 

to the public without fee or other charge.’ 
3. At its option, a car show on one day of the Festival, and if so 

doing, then NPEA shall at least 14 days in advance of the date 
thereof notify businesses and residents within 250 feet of the 
car show’s locale as to the date, time and contact information 
relative to same.   

4. Conduct vendor solicitation and control; 
5. Pay and be responsible for all costs associated with or related 

to provision of Festival entertainment including (but not limited 
to) musical entertainment, car show, run/walk race; 

6. Solicitation of sponsorships for the Festival with donations given 
directly to the NPEA and not be characterized or represented to 
be gifts to the City; 

7. Provision of security for all Festival events; 
8. Provision of parking of vendor-owned vehicles; 
9. Establishment and control all “preferred” parking areas; 
10. Updating and maintenance (for the period of the license) of the 

website, www.funstinks.com; and 
11. NPEA shall contribute to the City’s Garlic Festival Reserve Fund 

the lesser of $2,000.00 or 20% of the Festival’s net revenues 
after expenses for the 2014 Festival and provision of a financial 
report(s) by November 1, 2014 as to the costs, expenses and 
revenues associated with the Festival’s 2014 operation. 

 
Section 3. This resolution is and shall be effective from and after its enactment 

by the Council. 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this ____ day of April, 2014. 

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 

 
 
_____________________________ 
David Hatcher, Mayor 
Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 

______________________________  
Martha DeBry, City Manager/City Recorder   

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 39 of 96

http://www.funstinks.com/


 

Agenda Item No. 9E 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date: April 16, 2014 
To: City Council 
From: Martha DeBry, City Manager 
Subject: Event donation policy 
 
 

Request:  Mayor Hatcher has requested that Council consider a policy regarding the 
distribution of proceeds from community events 
 
Background:  Over recent years, the City has presented more frequent community 
events.  In some cases proceeds from the events have been used to fund local 
organizations like the North Plains Senior Center, North Plains Food Pantry, Friends of the 
North Plains Public Library and the North Plains Elementary School.  
 
Attached is a draft policy for Council’s consideration. 
 
Recommendation:  Council discuss the draft policy. 
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 40 of 96



 

9E Policy 180 Event DonationsEvent Donation Policy 
Page 1 of 2 

 

City of North Plains Policy 

Number: 180 Title:  Event Donation Policy 

Date: 04/16/14 Signed: _____________________________________ 

 
Policy: 
This policy outlines the process by which proceeds from a City Sponsored event may be 
distributed. 
 

A. Eligible Beneficiaries of Event Proceeds 
The City may periodically present events to benefit the following kinds of organizations: 

 Public Schools and organizations sanctioned by the public schools that provide 
instruction to North Plains residents 

 Organizations with a 501.C.3 IRS designation 

 Charity fundraisers sponsored by City employees or employee groups 
 

B. Event Creation 
Preliminary Event Approval 
If a Councilor or staff wish to use City resources to organize a new event that raises funds 
for a community organization(s) a preliminary event approval should be obtained from 
the City Council.  At that time, a brief report should be prepared outlining when the event 
is proposed, the purpose of the event, and the proposed recipient organization(s).  City 
Council can provide the approval through consensus and direction to the City Manager to 
proceed.  Once this preliminary approval has been given by Council, staff can announce 
the event publicly for the purpose of scoping the event, working with the recipient 
organization(s) and to cultivate sponsorships.  
 
Event Approval 
At a regular Council meeting staff shall present a detailed report regarding the event 
including: 
 

a. A budget that includes estimate of staff time used to organize the event; 
b. Sponsorship or donation goals; 
c. Target audience and method of outreach;  
d. Procedure for acceptance and reporting of activities, ensuring internal controls; 
e. The types of donor or sponsor recognition that is available for specified value of 

donorship or sponsorship; 
f. Specified or maximum sizes and identification of location(s) of any signage in 

recognition of the donation or sponsorship and any restrictions on the text of the 
recognition signage;  

g. Discrete activities at an event that are likely to generate revenue, such as parking, 
concessions, car shows or sole source sales of food or drink, shall be identified and 
the operator or beneficiary organization named.   

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 41 of 96



 

9E Policy 180 Event DonationsEvent Donation Policy 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 
Depending on the nature of the event, Council may approve the appropriation of funding 
for staff time, equipment and materials, prize purses, etc… 
 

C. Reconciliation of Proceeds and Distribution 
Within 60 days of the event, staff shall reconcile the expenses with revenues and present 
to Council the estimated net proceeds amount.  Upon approving the reconciliation, the 
appropriate budget allocation shall be made if needed, and authorization shall be 
provided to distribute proceeds to the recipient organization. 
 

D. Conditions for Accepting Funds, Donations or Sponsorships 
Conditions set for the acceptance of donations shall be fair, impartial and shall not 
discriminate on the basis of race, sex, color, age, religion, sexual orientation, actual or 
perceived gender identity, disability, ethnicity, national origin or political views of the 
donor or sponsor.  
 

E. Costs, Accounting and Record Keeping 
Departments shall maintain records that provide an audit trail for the receipt of all 
sponsorships and donations.   
 
City representatives shall also comply with the following: 
 

 All donations and sponsorships and the revenue, product and services received 
shall be recorded and maintained for at least the expected life of the item or 
service. 

 

 Donations and sponsorships paid for with a monetary contribution shall not be 
paid to staff in cash unless approved, in advance by the City Manager and receipt 
of cash is properly documented 

 

 A record of all sponsorships and donations including name, type, contact name if 
a company, amount and disposition shall be kept up-to-date and accurate. 

 

 The City cannot guarantee the tax deductibility of a donation but it may provide 
the donating party with a letter of acknowledgement and statement of the City’s 
intended use.  

 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 42 of 96



 

Agenda Item No. 9F 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date: April 15, 2014 
To: City Council 
From: Martha DeBry, City Manager 
Subject: Acceptance of report by Kennedy and Mohn regarding hotel feasibility 
 
 

Request:  Council accept the report prepared by Kennedy and Mohn. 
 
Background:  The City contracted with Kennedy and Mohn in February to study the 
feasibility of locating a hotel facility in North Plains. This report details the factors that will 
be considered by a hotel site locator and the triggers that could make North Plains a 
candidate for a hotel in the future. 
 
The short summary of the report is that North Plains does not have enough demand 
generated by commercial businesses or recreational activities to sustain a hotel operation.  
A facility here could not rely on business in Hillsboro to generate demand, as several hotel 
projects are in planning or construction in Hillsboro.  If there is a substantial increase in the 
number of businesses locating to the east of Jackson School Road and west of 
Brookwood that would be the time for North Plains to promote itself as possible location for 
a hotel.  
 
Recommendation:  No recommendation for information only.  
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 43 of 96



Ken
ne

dy
 &

 M
oh

n, 
P.S

. 

Ken
ne

dy
 &

 M
oh

n, 
P.S

.   

Sea
ttl

e, 
W

A

Sea
ttl

e, 
W

A  

Report on  

The Market Feasibility of  

Developing a Hotel  

in  

North Plains, OR 

 

Report Issue Date: April 14, 2014 

 

K&M File #:  14-007 

 

Prepared by 

Michael J. Mohn, MAI 

Kennedy & Mohn, P.S. 

Seattle, Washington 

 

Prepared for 

Ms. Jennifer Knowles 

City of North Plains, Oregon 

Ken
ne

dy
 &

 M
oh

n, 
P.S

. 

Ken
ne

dy
 &

 M
oh

n, 
P.S

. 

Sea
ttl

e, 
W

A

Sea
ttl

e, 
W

A  

 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 44 of 96

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item No: 9F



 

 
  Thomas P. Kennedy, CHA  Michael J. Mohn, MAI 
 14108 SE 182nd • Renton, WA 98058  19709 51st Ave. SE •Bothell, WA 98012 
Tel: (425) 277-5755 • Fax: (425) 277-5759  Tel: (425) 485-7925 •Fax: (425) 485-9114 
 tkennedy@HotelRealtyNW.com   mmohn@HotelRealtyNW.com  
 

 
 
April 14, 2014 
 
 
 
 
Ms. Jennifer Knowles 
City of North Plains 
31360 NW Commercial Street 
North Plains, OR 97133 
 
 
Dear Ms. Knowles: 
 
As requested, we have completed our research and analysis of the North Plains-Hillsboro area 
for the purpose of evaluating the potential for lodging development.  Per our engagement letter 
dated February 6, 2014 this letter report summarizes our findings and conclusions for the hotel 
market feasibility study.  Our report and analyses are presented subject to the attached 
assumptions and limiting conditions.  The effective date of our analyses is March 12, 2014, the 
completion date of our fieldwork in the local market.  Our market feasibility study included the 
following scope of work. 
 

♦ Orientation meeting with you at the outset of the assignment to discuss your perceptions 
of opportunities and challenges in the local market, major commercial businesses in the 
local market, and a review of potential sites that could be available and are appropriately 
zoned to allow for hotel development. 

 
♦ We evaluated the location of North Plains and several potential sites in the area, 

considering such factors as access and visibility relative to key transportation routes in 
the area, surrounding neighborhood influences, proximity to primary demand generators 
and ancillary amenities, current zoning, and the advantages and disadvantages of the 
market and the various sites as compared to those of competing hotels in the local 
market. 

 
♦ Interviews with State and local officials regarding economic conditions, development 

trends, and the need for additional lodging in the North Plains - Hillsboro area. 
 
♦ We identified those hotels that would be considered most directly competitive with a 

new hotel if built in North Plains and conducted interviews with hotel operators, 
franchise representatives, and major commercial businesses in the area regarding hotel 
market conditions.  Based on these interviews and data drawn from an STR Trends 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 45 of 96

mailto:tkennedy@HotelRealtyNW.com
mailto:mmohn@HotelRealtyNW.com


Ms. Jennifer Knowles 
April 14, 2014 
Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 

report, we compiled a summary of the historical operating performance within the 
competitive market in recent years. 

 
♦ We analyzed historical levels of growth in the local economy and identified new hotels 

currently proposed for development in the area for the purpose of developing a 
projection of future market supply and demand conditions and the resulting occupancy 
rates within the competitive market through a five-year forecast period. 

 
Based on the underlying research and projected conditions within the competitive lodging market 
in future years, we concluded that market conditions do not presently support hotel development 
in the North Plains area.  However, given the underlying planning nature of this study, we have 
provided additional commentary within the balance of this report that should be considered when 
planning or positioning North Plains for potential hotel development at an appropriate time in the 
future.   
 
We trust that you will find the commentary and counsel provided herein to be of value to the 
planning and timing of potential future development in the North Plains area.  Should you have 
any questions or require clarification of any of the items discussed in the following report, please 
feel free to call me at: 425.485.7925. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Kennedy & Mohn, P.S. 
By:   Michael J. Mohn, MAI 
 
  

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 46 of 96



 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 1 
 

 

Introduction 
The city of North Plains is a small, semi-rural community, set against a backdrop of lush farms 
and forested hills.  With a 2013 population of only 2,015 persons, North Plains retains the feel 
and character of a small town, while being located only a short distance from world-class 
businesses and amenities.  As a result, the community provides an attractive alternative for those 
seeking a more rural lifestyle, while working in the city or in one of the larger suburban 
communities nearby.   
 
North Plains is located in the central portion of Washington County, in the western suburbs of 
the Portland metropolitan area, approximately 18 miles west of the Portland CBD and 60 miles 
east of Seaside, on the Oregon coast.  North Plains is located only five-miles west of Hillsboro 
on US-26.  As the largest suburban community nearby, with a population of over 92,000, 
Hillsboro is the heart of Oregon’s ‘Silicon Forest’ and home to Intel and numerous other high-
technology companies.  Similarly, but on a much smaller scale, Forest Grove, with a population 
of 22,000 is located approximately 15-miles south and west of North Plains, via more leisurely 
state highways or county roads.  Forest Grove is home to Pacific University and Viasystems, a 
global manufacturer of printed circuit boards.   
 

 
 
North Plains’ location places it at the approximate western edge of urban development within the 
greater Portland area, with primarily forestland and mountains between North Plains and the 
coast.  Major employers in North Plains include Jewitt-Cameron Seed Company, Oregon 
Canadian Forest Products, and Recology, among others. 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 47 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 2 
 

 

North Plains may be known best as home to Pumpkin Ridge Golf Club, an award winning venue 
located in the hills three miles north of town.  Since its opening in 1992, Pumpkin Ridge has 
played host to a number of significant events including the U.S. Women’s Open, the LPGA 
Tour, and currently, the Web.com Tour (PGA). North Plains is also home to Horning’s Hideout, 
a 160-acre oasis in the woods offering fishing, camping, and ultimate Frisbee.  However, the 
notoriety of Horning’s Hideout comes largely from its hosting of several major concerts each 
summer, accommodating 5,000 visitors in its outdoor amphitheater, and also from hosting the 
annual Warrior Dash, a three-mile obstacle race that attracts 11,000 people each September.   
 
At the present time, North Plains does not have a hotel to accommodate visitors to the area and 
the purpose of this study is to evaluate supply and demand conditions in the lodging market 
within the broader area to determine if there is a current opportunity for North Plains to attract 
and support lodging development, and if not, to identify factors that may better position North 
Plains to support this type of development in the future.   

 
 
Area 

The city of Portland is located at the confluence of the Willamette and Columbia Rivers, 
approximately 70 miles inland from the Pacific Ocean.  The Columbia River runs east and west 
between the states of Oregon and Washington and the Willamette River runs south to north 
through the western part of Oregon, joining the Columbia River at the northern boundary of the 
state.  The Portland MSA consists of seven counties:  Multnomah, Washington, Clackamas, 
Yamhill, and Columbia in Oregon, and Clark and Skamania counties in the State of Washington.  
Oregon is bounded by Washington on the north, California and Nevada on the south, Idaho on 
the east, and the Pacific Ocean on the west.  Washington County is bounded on the north by 
Columbia and Clatsop Counties, on the south by Yamhill and Clackamas Counties, on the east 
by Multnomah and Clackamas Counties, and on the west by Tillamook County.   
 
The Portland-Vancouver PMSA represents the largest population center in the State of Oregon.  
Portland is Oregon’s largest city and is the state’s major urban center.  The surrounding suburban 
areas occupy a sprawling region in the northwest corner of the state and in nearby Washington 
State, generally along the Columbia River.  Portland is bisected north and south by Interstate 
Highway 5 (I-5), which extends from San Diego to the south, and north to Seattle and 
Vancouver, British Columbia.  Seattle is located approximately 150 miles north of Portland, and 
Salem, the capital city of Oregon, is located approximately 50 miles south.  Interstate 205 is a 
bypass that connects with I-5 approximately ten miles south of downtown Portland, near 
Tualatin, and north of Vancouver, Washington, near Salmon Creek. 
 
The Portland-Vancouver PMSA ranked as the nation’s 24th largest metropolitan statistical area in 
2013.  Between 2000 and 2013, the population of the region increased by over 378,000, a 
compound average annual growth rate of approximately 1.4 percent.  In 2013, the Portland area 
ranked 21st among the top 100 MSA’s rated for job growth characteristics.  The cities of 
Hillsboro and Beaverton are located in Washington County, within the Portland-Vancouver 
PMSA, approximately 18-miles and 9-miles, respectively, west of downtown Portland.  

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 48 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 3 
 

 

Hillsboro and Beaverton are currently ranked as the 5th and 6th largest cities in the state. In 
Money Magazine’s 2013 ranking of the top 100 best places to live, Hillsboro ranked 95th and 
nearby Beaverton ranked 97th.   
 
Transportation needs within the area are served by U.S. Highway 26 and State Route 217.  U.S. 
26, also known as the Sunset Highway, connects to downtown Portland to the east and the 
Oregon Coast to the west.  SR-217 connects between U.S. 26 on the north, to Interstate Highway 
5, (I-5) on the south.   
 
The demand for hotel rooms in the Sunset Corridor area is influenced by local employment 
patterns as well as the broader employment patterns within the greater Portland-Vancouver 
PMSA, which includes Washington County, among others.   
 
Hillsboro, and to a lesser extent 
Forest Grove, benefit from a strong 
manufacturing base dominated by 
electronics, semiconductors, solar 
equipment, and other technology-
related companies. Major employers 
in the Hillsboro/Forest Grove area 
are shown in the table at right.   
 
Between 2000 and 2013, non-
agricultural employment in the 
Portland-Vancouver PMSA posted 
negligible growth of 0.5 percent 
compounded annually.  Implicit in 
this lackluster growth rate, is 
recession-induced losses of roundly 
61,000 jobs which effectively rolled 
back employment to 2000 levels.  
Between 2010 and 2013, the PMSA 
regained over 63,000 new jobs, 
allowing employment levels to once 
again exceed the pre-recession peak 
levels achieved in 2008. While 
manufacturing employment within 
the PMSA accounts for over 
115,000 jobs currently, this sector 
accounts for nearly 28,000 fewer 
jobs than it did in 2000.  
Conversely, the education and health and professional and business services sectors have 
provided the largest gains in employment, adding 48,000 and 22,000 jobs respectively since 
2000.    

Company Product/Service Employees

Intel High tech manufacturing 16,250
Wells Fargo Customer service center 1,275
Triquint Semiconductors 982
SolarWorld Solar cell manufacturing 758
FEI Company High tech manufacturing 440
Maxim Integrated Products Semiconductors 431
Acumed Medical manufacturing 400
Yahoo Customer service center 400
OHSU Primate Center Research 380
Applied Materials Semiconductors 370
Oracle High tech manufacturing 360
Genentech Biotechnology 350
ACS Software 332
Synopsys Semiconductors 319
Epson High tech manufacturing 300

Viasystems Circuit board manufacturing 900
Pacific University Higher education 644
Stimson Lumber Forest products 156
McMenamins Hospitality 150
Tuality Health Care Health care 140
Safeway Grocery 125
Westak Circuit board manufacturing 120
Jennings McCall Center Senior housing 115
Marquis Care Senior housing 113

Major Employers - Hillsboro - Forest Grove

Source:  Cities of Hillsboro and Forest Grove - 2013/14 data

Hillsboro

Forest Grove

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 49 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 4 
 

 

The table below summarizes historical trends in population, employment growth, and other 
economic indicators that were reviewed in preparing this analysis. 
 

 
 

CAAGR
2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2013 2000-2013

Population
North Plains 1,605 1,660 1,650 1,755 1,905 1,935 1,990 2,015 1.8%
Forest Grove 17,708 18,750 19,200 20,380 21,465 21,770 21,460 22,340 1.8%
Beaverton 76,129 77,990 79,350 701,545 86,205 89,803 91,205 90,835 1.4%
Hillsboro 70,186 74,840 79,940 84,445 89,285 91,611 92,550 92,350 2.1%
Washington County 449,250 463,050 480,200 500,585 519,925 531,070 542,845 550,990 1.6%
Portland-Vancouver PMSA* 1,935,960 1,989,550 2,050,650 2,121,910 2,191,785 2,235,580 2,266,573 2,314,554 1.4%
State of Oregon 3,436,750 3,504,700 3,582,600 3,690,505 3,791,075 3,844,195 3,883,735 3,919,020 1.0%

Employment
Ntl. Resource / Mining 1,900 1,700 1,700 1,700 1,600 1,100 1,000 1,000 -4.8%
Construction 53,200 51,600 53,900 63,200 60,800 45,100 48,300 51,200 -0.3%
Manufacturing 143,300 123,800 120,100 126,600 123,200 107,000 114,200 115,500 -1.6%
Trade/Transp./Utilities 201,000 192,400 193,400 202,600 203,900 182,700 188,700 193,700 -0.3%
Information n/a 23,800 22,500 24,000 24,600 22,100 22,300 22,700 -0.4%
Financial Activities 64,800 65,600 66,100 70,600 67,800 61,900 62,400 63,300 -0.2%
Prof. & Business Services 130,500 121,700 122,100 134,700 136,500 134,100 146,100 152,200 1.2%
Education & Health 102,900 111,000 115,700 123,200 132,600 142,800 149,100 151,200 3.0%
Leisure & Hospitality 85,800 84,800 87,800 94,100 99,300 94,500 100,100 104,300 1.5%
Other Services n/a 33,900 34,700 35,700 37,100 34,600 36,400 36,900 0.8%
Government 130,500 133,900 136,200 138,900 147,000 147,400 144,800 144,000 0.8%

Total Non-Farm 973,300 944,200 954,200 1,015,300 1,034,400 973,300 1,013,400 1,036,000 0.5%

Unemployment Rate
Portland-Vancouver PMSA 4.4% 7.8% 7.0% 5.0% 6.0% 10.6% 8.2% 7.3%
Oregon 5.1% 7.6% 7.3% 5.3% 6.5% 10.7% 8.8% 7.7%

Transient Room Tax ($K - FYE)
Hillsboro $2,117 $1,581 $2,393 $2,561 3.9%
Forest Grove $210 $160 $210 $207 -0.3%
Washington County $7,014 $5,673 $7,604 $8,269 3.3%

Portland International Airport
Passenger Volume 13,790,115 12,241,975 13,038,057 14,043,489 14,299,234 13,192,857 14,390,750 15,029,569 0.7%
Domestic 13,302,350 12,063,871 12,645,600 13,521,492 13,671,965 12,752,338 13,946,511 14,579,152 0.7%
International 487,765 178,104 392,457 521,997 627,269 440,519 444,239 450,417 -0.6%

CAAGR -5.8% -2.8% 3.8% 0.9% -3.9% 4.4% 4.4%

Highway Traffic Counts - US-26
@ Hwy. 217 - M.P. 70.39 112,700 115,000 109,800 123,400 126,800 129,000 129,300 1.2%
@ 185th - M.P. 63.89 65,500 69,400 69,200 74,800 74,500 77,800 73,200 0.9%
@ Glencoe Rd. - M.P. 56.23 21,600 22,700 22,500 21,300 20,900 21,000 20,100 -0.6%

Consumer Price Index
United States 172.2 179.9 188.9 201.6 215.3 218.1 229.6 233.0 2.4%
Portland/Salem 178.0 183.8 191.1 201.1 215.4 218.3 229.8 235.5 2.2%
Seattle Area 179.2 189.3 194.7 207.6 224.7 226.7 238.7 241.6 2.3%

Sources:  State Depts of Revenue, Employment, & Transportation; BLS, Port of Portland, Portland State University Research Center
*  Includes Clark & Skamania Counties in Washington

CAAGR = Compound Average Annual Growth Rate for years shown

Economic Indicator Summary

Portland/Vancouver PMSA

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 50 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 5 
 

 

In 2000, the unemployment rate in the Portland-Vancouver PMSA was at a seven-year low of 
4.4 percent, climbing rapidly during the recession to a high of 10.6 percent, with gradual 
improvement thereafter.  2013 posted unemployment levels of 7.3 percent, which remains above 
long term stabilized levels.  
 
Any discussion of employment in the Sunset Corridor area would not be complete without 
acknowledging the significant role which Intel plays in the economy of the local area.  Intel is a 
multinational corporation that specializes in the development of semiconductors and other 
related technology within the computer and electronics industry.   Intel has established its 
primary research campus in Hillsboro and it is the largest single employer in the area with 
approximately 17,000 employees, spread across six campuses in Washington County.  The 
Ronler Acres campus, south of US-26 at Brookwood Parkway, is the largest of the Intel 
campuses and is home to over 7,000 Intel employees.  Average salaries and bonuses for Intel 
employees in Washington County in recent years have been in excess of $117,000 annually.   
 
Annual revenues at Intel grew from $33.7B in 2000 to $38.8B in 2005, a gain of 15 percent. 
During the several years prior to the recession, revenues declined, vacillating moderately below 
prior peak levels, followed by the recession which brought company revenues to $35.1B in 2009.  
For a brief period in 2005/06, Intel cut employment and froze both travel and salaries, followed 
by a decision to close one of their older fabrication plants at Ronler Acres, Fab-20, and with it, 
roundly 900 local jobs.  However, Intel bounced back quickly, with company revenues 
increasing 24 percent to a remarkable $43.6B in 2010 and then increasing another 24 percent to 
$54.0B in 2011.  Full year revenues in 2012 and 2013 declined nominally to $53.3B and 52.7B 
respectively.  Despite its interim volatility, between 2000 and 2013, Intel posted average growth 
in company revenue of roundly 3.5 percent annually. 
 
While Intel is notoriously tight-lipped about its plans, in February-2010 they announced their 
plans to build a new $3B, 1.1 million square foot research fabrication plant (D1X) at their Ronler 
Acres campus in Hillsboro to fabricate next-generation memory chips.  Subsequently, Intel 
announced in October-2012 (even before completion of D1X slated for 2013) that they would 
move forward with construction of yet another new fabrication plant, D1X Mod2, identical to 
D1X, together with 1.5 million square feet of new office and manufacturing support facilities in 
two new buildings.  Other construction at Ronler Acres has included two new 3,000 space 
parking structures and a retooling of the previously decommissioned Fab-20, which will 
reportedly become an extension of the D1C high-volume production facility and possibly be 
used for expanded training purposes.  When the latest phase of construction is completed in 
approximately 2015, representing over $6B in capital investment, Ronler Acres will house 9.3 
million square feet of manufacturing space and will be nearly 40 percent larger.   
 
Intel estimated that construction of the D1X plant would generate 6,000 to 8,000 new 
construction jobs. Intel’s construction in Hillsboro has been propping up construction 
employment in the construction sector throughout the region since it began in 2010 and with 
recent announcements, will likely continue to do so well into 2015.  Intel estimated that upon 
completion, D1X would provide 800 to 1,000 permanent jobs in the local community and, while 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 51 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 6 
 

 

no subsequent estimates are available for the expanded project, it would be reasonable to assume 
that permanent jobs in the market could potentially increase two-fold from earlier estimates.  
Clearly, a project of this magnitude will provide dramatic economic growth and benefits within 
the area for many years to come.   
 

 
 
Intel’s footprint in Washington County represents its largest global presence and its most 
advanced site, spearheading the research and development needs of a major global corporation.  
Intel is unique in the way it rolls out new manufacturing technology, perfecting it in a laboratory 
and then painstakingly replicating it at factories around the world using a manufacturing strategy 
first employed in the mid-1980s and referred to as "Copy Exactly".  Under “Copy Exactly”, 
researchers spend years perfecting a new manufacturing technique in one of Intel's development 
factories (fabs) in Hillsboro, and once they are satisfied with the results, work to meticulously 
export every last detail to half a dozen or so chip factories around the world. With the speed of 
computer chip technology doubling every 18 to 24 months, Intel is constantly reinventing itself 
with each new cycle of chip-set or silicon wafer technology.  A by-product of the constant 
technology-churn at Intel is the expanding and regularly recurring nature of lodging demand 
patterns which are created in the local market.  While completion of construction at the two new 
D1X fabs in Hillsboro will undoubtedly exert downward pressure on construction employment 
and related lodging demand levels in the market, we fully expect that regular and ongoing re-
tooling and training generated by these new fabs in future years will quickly offset any 
downward pressure in demand patterns in the local market.  While over the last decade Intel has 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 52 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 7 
 

 

brought a heightened degree of fiscal certainty to Washington County and to Hillsboro in 
particular, we anticipate these conditions will continue to improve in the future.   
 
Other notable developments occurring in the area in recent years include: 
 

♦ Kaiser Permanente’s new $375M Westside Medical Center opened in August 2013 on a 
15-acre site located along Evergreen Parkway at Stucki Avenue in Hillsboro.  This 
412,000 SF facility includes a 126-bed hospital (expandable in the future to 240-beds) 
and an adjacent medical office building.  The $344M project is the first new hospital to 
open in Washington County in 40 years.   

 
♦ As a result of major expansions by Intel and in anticipation of continued growth in the 

area, ODOT and Washington County have a number of transportation projections slated 
for the area including the widening of US Highway-26 between Cornell Road and NW 
185th Avenue, which was completed in late 2012 at a cost of $15.6M.  Further widening 
of US-26 to the west is proposed but is awaiting additional funding.   

 
♦ In 2013, ODOT began a $45M project to expand and reconfigure the interchange at US-

26 and Brookwood Parkway/Helvetia Road, in anticipation of large-scale industrial in the 
newly expanded urban growth boundary, as noted previously.  This project includes 
expanding the overpass, adding and expanding on-ramps, and toner related work.  This 
project is projected for completion in mid-2015. 

 
♦ In North Plains, at US-26 and Glencoe Road, ODOT began in 2012 a $32M project to 

expand the overpass from two to four lanes, while also extending the on and off-ramps to 
the highway.  This project began in 2012 and is nearing completion at the present time, 
with the completion of final paving, drainage, and signal work.   
 

♦ The Port of Portland appears to have cleared final hurdles necessary to complete a long 
planned addition of a parallel runway at the nearby Hillsboro Airport, which is the 2nd 
busiest airport in the state.  This project has been proposed for years and received FAA 
and EIS approvals in 2010 but was stalled in 2011 by appeal from the local community. 
Continued efforts by the Port resulted in final FAA approvals being received in February 
2014.  This $17.2 M project is now in the design phase, with construction scheduled to 
begin in Summer-2014. 
 

♦ Following recent court challenges, Oregon lawmaker’s successfully culminated efforts to 
expand the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and establish new urban and rural reserves.  
Dubbed the ‘grand-bargain’, House Bill 4078 was signed into law on April 1, 2014, 
following a unanimous vote in both houses.  Of particular importance are several large 
parcels of land located south of US-26, between Brookwood Parkway and Jackson 
School Road which were brought into the urban growth boundary.   

 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 53 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 8 
 

 

♦ This area of expansion in the UGB is in the far western reaches of Hillsboro and was 
previously considered as a possible location for ‘Project Azalea’, a state-of-the-art, high-
volume, computer chip factory, initially reported to be a 3.2- million square foot facility 
that would create at least 1,000 new jobs. Early rumors suggest Project Azalea may have 
been sponsored by Apple Computers and/or Taiwan Semiconductor.  This massive 
project was being courted aggressively by economic development officials in both 
Oregon and New York between late-2012 and late-2013, before being put on hold due to 
economic conditions.   
 

Overall, the economic life-blood of the Sunset Corridor area is heavily concentrated in Hillsboro, 
a short, yet significant five miles east along US-26 from North Plains.  The area’s high tech 
manufacturing companies, professional services firms, quality health care systems, expanding 
retail amenities, and well developed highway and light rail systems are concentrated in this area 
and provide a solid base for continued economic growth and expansion.  While North Plains is 
clearly in the path of development, the five miles that separates North Plains from Hillsboro is 
economically significant. However, on the bright side, given the rapid pace of development in 
Hillsboro over the last decade or more, there is a potentially looming shortage of prime 
development sites remaining, many of which are restricted in their use, or are being retained for 
larger scale future developments.  As a result, the inventory of potential sites that could 
accommodate hotel development is declining in Hillsboro and the current round of proposed 
hotel projects (to be discussed in later pages) will further reduce this inventory.  Nonetheless, the 
current demand patterns and the location the major demand generators in the area clearly lend 
support for lodging development, but predominantly in the Hillsboro area.  As a result, for most 
developers, even a secondary or tertiary site in Hillsboro would be considered more desirable 
than a prime site in North Plains.  In our opinion, the desirability of lodging development sites in 
North Plains could be greatly enhanced if, or when, significant development occurs at the 
western edge of Hillsboro, between Brookwood Parkway and Jackson School Road, south of 
US-26.  In our opinion, announcements to that effect should be considered potential triggering 
events for future lodging development in North Plains.  
 

Competitive Lodging Market 

With no hotels in North Plains at the present time, we define the overall competitive market 
based largely on demand patterns in the area, which are heavily concentrated along the US-26 
corridor, and to a lesser extent in Forest Grove.  For the purposes of our analysis, we defined the 
competitive set for this project to include 11 hotels with a total of 1,260 available guestrooms.  
These hotels represent the better quality three-diamond, AAA-rated hotels located along the U.S. 
Highway 26 corridor in Hillsboro, Beaverton, and Forest Grove.  This competitive set is heavily 
weighted with properties along US-26, with only nominal representation in Forest Grove, which 
we believe to be consistent with demand patterns in the area.  The hotels in the competitive set 
are generally located proximate to the primary sources of demand and along the major 
transportation corridors and as a result, they would be expected to represent the primary 
competition for a new hotel if built in North Plains.   
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 54 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 9 
 

 

Key characteristics of those properties included with the competitive market are identified in the 
following table.  
 

 
 

♦ The competitive hotels range in size from 54 to 155 guestrooms  
♦ The hotels range in age from approximately 10 to 20 years, with most properties 

typically around 15 years old.   
♦ The newest hotel to open in the market is the SpringHill Suites, which is now 10 years 

old.   
♦ While most of the competitive hotels are generally in average to good condition, the 

increasing age of the competition presents a competitive opportunity.   
♦ Four of the competitive hotels are limited-service properties; three of the hotels are 

focused-service hotels, and the remaining four hotels are extended-stay hotels. 
♦ Ten of the competitive hotels are affiliated with one of the major national hotel brands, 

with the Larkspur Landing being part of regionally-known hotel chain.  In October-2012 
the Phoenix Inn converted to the DoubleTree brand by Hilton after completing a 
significant renovation and adding limited food and beverage facilities. 

♦ The hotels in the competitive market offer very limited banquet and meeting space.  The 
largest meeting space in the market is 1,750 square feet at the DoubleTree/Phoenix.    

♦ Historically, most group demand in the competitive market has been derived from 
leisure or sports groups that do not require dedicated meeting space.   

 

 Property Location Opened AAA Mtg. Space Rooms Rates * Amenities

US-26/Beaverton/Hillsboro
Courtyard by Marriott Hillsboro 1996  1,248 155    $246-$259 A B D/I E F H
DoubleTree (Phoenix) Beaverton-US 26 1997  1,750 98      $149-$189 A B D/I E F H
Fairfield Inn & Suites Beaverton-US 26 1997  625 106    $170-$179 B C D/I E F H
Hilton Garden Inn Beaverton-US 26 1999  1,100 150    $170-$199 A B D/I E F H
Holiday Inn Express Hillsboro 2000  625 86      $169-$179 B C E F H
Homewood Suites by Hilton Beaverton-US 26 1998  828 123    $179-$219 B C D/O E F G H
Larkspur Landing Hillsboro 1997  600 124    $152-$170 C E F G H
Residence Inn by Marriott Hillsboro 1994  1,220 122    $256-$284 B C D/O E F G H
SpringHill Suites by Marriott Hillsboro 2004  None 106    $249-$269 B C D/I E F H
TownePlace Suites by Marriott Hillsboro 1999  265 136    $179 B D/O E F G H
BW University Inn Forest Grove 1999  None 54      $117-$144 C D/I E F H
Total Competitive Rooms 1,260 

     AMENITIES LEGEND:
  A - Restaurant & Lounge E - Exercise Room
  B - Banquet & Meeting Rooms F - High-Speed Internet
  C - Complimentary Continental Breakfast G - Extended-Stay Kitchenette Units
  D - Swimming Pool - (I) Indoor ; (O) Outdoor H - Microwave/Refrigerator in some or all units

Competitive Lodging Market Profile

*  Room rates reflect transient length of stay and are subject to discounting and seasonal changes
Sources:  2014 AAA website, Brand websites, K&M

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 55 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 10 
 

 

The locations of the competitive hotels, in relation to North Plains are shown in the following 
graphic.   
 

 
 
During the 2008–2013 period, annual occupancies within the competitive market have ranged 
from a low of roundly 66 percent in 2009 to a high of nearly 82 percent in 2013, with an average 
occupancy over the six-year period of 75 percent.  During this period, there has been no growth 
in the available rooms supply in the market. Conversely, demand growth during the period has 
averaged 2.9 percent annually, despite a notable decline in demand in 2009 as a result of the 
recession and travel restrictions at Intel.  In subsequent years, demand growth in the market has 
averaged 3.6 percent annually, reflecting strong years for Intel and the added benefit of major 
construction activity within the market.  While the general trend in demand in the market is 
notably upward, this market is not without its periods of substantial volatility.  The impact of 
volatility tends to be much greater on those properties located in peripheral areas of the market.   
 
Average room rates within the overall competitive market over the past six years have increased 
from roundly $109 in 2008 to $126 in 2013, reflecting average growth of 3.0 percent annually, 
which is moderately above the underlying rate of inflation during the period.  The impact of the 
recession and travel restrictions at Intel caused average room rates in the market to decline over 
10 percent in 2009 and average room rates did not exceed their pre-recession levels again until 
2012.   

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 56 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 11 
 

 

The combined effect of increasing occupancy levels and significant rate growth caused RevPAR 
levels in the market to increase at an average rate of 5.9 percent annually over the six-year 
period, which is an enviable level of growth, especially when considering the general weakness 
in the underlying economy during much of this period.  The current market average RevPAR in 
2013 is now approximately 36 percent higher than the market’s previous peak achieved in 2008.  
There are few markets that can claim this level of growth in recent years.  Curiously enough, the 
markets’ demonstrated growth in RevPAR in recent years tends to be mirrored by Intel’s revenue 
growth during this period.  The influence of Intel in the market cannot be overstated, while they 
are certainly not the only demand generator in the market, they are clearly the dominant demand 
generator, and as a result, - as goes Intel, so goes the market.   
 
The table below provides a summary of historical performance within the competitive lodging 
market between 2008 and 2013.  The early years of this period are marked by the recession, 
followed by several years of renewal and substantial growth.   
 

 
 

CAAGR
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2008-2013

Available Rooms
Competitive Hotels 1,258 1,258 1,258 1,258 1,259 1,260 0.0%
   Percentage Change 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1%

Available Room Nights
Competitive Hotels 459,170 459,170 459,170 459,170 459,660 459,900 0.0%
   Percentage Change 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1%

Occupied Room Nights
Competitive Hotels 326,829 303,296 338,766 358,894 372,084 376,236 2.9%
   Percentage Change -7.2% 11.7% 5.9% 3.7% 1.1%

Market Occupancy
Competitive Hotels 71.2% 66.1% 73.8% 78.2% 80.9% 81.8%

Market Average Room Rate
Competitive Hotels $108.93 $97.90 $96.44 $106.01 $115.42 $126.33 3.0%
   Percentage Change -10.1% -1.5% 9.9% 8.9% 9.5%

Market Average RevPAR
Competitive Hotels $77.54 $64.67 $71.15 $82.86 $93.43 $103.35 5.9%
   Percentage Change -16.6% 10.0% 16.5% 12.8% 10.6%

Source: Kennedy & Mohn, P.S. & Smith Travel Research

Competitive Lodging Market - North Plains, OR
Historical Performance

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 57 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 12 
 

 

 Mix of Demand and Seasonality 
 
Based on our interviews with managers of the competitive hotels, we have categorized the mix of 
demand in the market into three primary segments that include: corporate and government 
demand (business travelers); groups (meetings and sports teams); and leisure demand (tourists 
and those visiting friends and relatives).  The table below summarizes our estimates of the mix of 
demand at the competitive hotels during 2013. 
 

 
 
Seasonal influences on occupancy and average room rates within the competitive market are 
derived from data contained in the Trends report by Smith Travel Research.  As shown in the 
following tables, monthly occupancies in the competitive market generally remain at or above 70 
percent during all but the December holiday period, with occupancies peaking during the 
traditional summer travel months of June through September.  Average room rates tend to show 
generally similar seasonal trends and are remarkably stable throughout the year, increasing 
moderately during summer months and declining somewhat in December. 
 

 

 

Occupied Percent of
Demand Segment Rooms Total Demand

Commercial/Government 256,100 68%
Group 55,000 15%
Leisure 65,200 17%
Total Demand 376,300 100%

Estimated Mix of Rooms Demand
Competitive Hotels - 2013

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Months of Year 

Seasonality of Market Occupancy Rates 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 58 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 13 
 

 

 

 
 
The properties within the competitive market demonstrate traditionally corporate demand 
patterns throughout the week, achieving the highest occupancy rates during weekdays, on 
Monday through Thursday nights with occupancies typically in the mid-80 to 90 percent range.  
Friday and Saturday nights are moderately slower, although still sustaining occupancies in the 
mid-70 percent range.  While Sunday remains the slowest night of the week, occupancies still 
average 66 percent and spill into the mid-70 percent range during five months of the year.   
 
 

Projected Lodging Market Conditions 
 
Proposed Supply Changes - Based on our research in the market, we identified seven hotel 
projects that are proposed for development in the area, representing over 900 potential new 
rooms.  Of these, two projects are under construction at this time, with opening scheduled for 
later this year, and three of the other projects have site-control and appear to be highly likely to 
move forward.  In aggregate, these five projects represent 741 new rooms that we consider to be 
highly likely to open in the market in the next 12-18 months.  Based on our research, we consider 
the remaining two projects to be too preliminary to warrant inclusion within our projections at 
this time.   
 
The following table provides key data regarding the five hotel projects that have been included 
within our projection of future market conditions.   
 

$75.00

$85.00

$95.00

$105.00

$115.00

$125.00

$135.00

$145.00

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Months of Year 

Seasonality in Market ADR 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 59 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 14 
 

 

 
 

 
Projected Demand Changes - Within our analysis, projections of growth in demand reflect the 
combination of three individual components including underlying growth in demand, unsatisfied 
demand, and induced demand.   
 

♦ Underlying growth in demand is projected based on the strength of local and regional 
economic indicators such as growth in population, employment, room tax collections, 
air travel and similar measures.   
 

♦ Unsatisfied demand is that component of new demand that can be accommodated in the 
market as new hotel rooms open, thereby providing additional capacity during peak 
periods when demand is turned away or otherwise under-accommodated.  As new 
rooms open in the market, the market’s ability to satisfy additional demand increases, 
resulting in a gradual reduction in benefit from each new room added.   

 
♦ Induced demand reflects changes in the market that result from external forces.  Induced 

demand can be either positive or negative.  Based on our research in the local market, 
we induce a modest component of new demand in future years based on opening of the 
proposed Embassy Suites and the market’s then ability to better accommodate the needs 
of upscale users seeking a full-service hotel.  At present, this demand is forced out of 
the market to downtown Portland or Washington Square.  We also included a negative 
inducement of demand to reflect anticipated changes in construction levels at Intel over 
the projection period.     

 
In arriving at our estimates of demand growth within each of these categories, consideration was 
given to the mix of demand within the market, seasonal patterns of demand, and current capacity 
constraints within the local market.  Key factors in our analysis are summarized in the following 
paragraphs.   
 

♦ We estimate underlying growth in demand based on historical changes in key economic 
indicators, tempered with anticipated changes over the near term.  Employment data and 

Rooms Opening Status
Hampton Inn & Suites 106 Jul-14 U/C
Embassy Suites 165 Nov-14 U/C
Residence Inn 140 Jun-15 Proposed
Home-2 by Hilton 130 Sep-15 Proposed
Holiday Inn / Candlewood Suites 200 Dec-15 Proposed

741

Proposed New Lodging Supply
Sunset Corridor

Source: Kennedy & Mohn, P.S. Apr-2014

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 60 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 15 
 

 

air traffic volumes over the last decade indicate negligible long term growth, although 
these results have been heavily influenced by recessionary impacts in recent years.  
Population growth trends in the area tend to support underlying growth rates of roundly 
1.5 to 2.0 percent annually, similar to growth in highway traffic counts.  Room tax 
revenues for Hillsboro and Washington County indicate average growth in revenues of 
3.3 to 3.9 percent annually in recent years, while revenue growth in Forest Grove has 
been flat to down slightly.   
 
Based on the available data, our projections incorporate a moderate underlying rate of 
growth in demand of roundly 2.5 percent in the corporate demand segment and 2.0 
percent annually in the group and leisure demand segments, declining slightly during the 
later years of the projection.   

 
♦ We project that the new hotels entering the competitive market within the projection 

period will allow the market to accommodate roundly 83,500 room nights of new demand 
that is not presently captured in the market due to limited capacity during Monday 
through Thursday nights throughout the year, and further capacity constraints during peak 
summer months.  At present, this unsatisfied demand is turned away to lesser quality 
properties, or to properties outside the competitive market.  New demand is assumed to 
be accommodated in the market during the first two years of operation for the new hotels. 
 
Our estimate of unsatisfied demand is equivalent to roundly 113 fill nights annually (2.2 
nights per week), for each new room entering the market.  This estimate is supported by 
our interviews in the local market which suggest that in recent years the competitive 
hotels experienced an average of roundly 170 fill nights (3.3 nights per week).  When the 
SpringHill Suites opened in the market in 2004, under considerably inferior market 
conditions, we estimate that in its first year of operation it allowed the market to 
accommodate roundly 165 room nights of new demand for each room opened. Fill nights 
within the market are influenced by several factors including the strength of the brand 
and proximity to Intel and they would be expected to diminish as the volume of new 
rooms increases.  

 
♦ Our projections also include two components of induced demand as follows.   

o We estimate that roundly 13,300 room nights of demand will be eroded from the 
competitive market during 2015 and 2016 due to the winding down of 
construction activities at Intel which have buoyed up the market in recent years.  
This estimate reflects a nominal five percent reduction in the commercial demand 
segment, which we believe would be largely concentrated in the lower-rated 
properties.   
 

o Secondly, we induce roundly 5,300 room nights of new demand to the market to 
reflect the market’s expanded ability to accommodate upscale travelers and 
moderate group activities as a direct result of the opening of the Embassy Suites.  

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 61 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 16 
 

 

Without this property, we believe these travelers would continue to select 
properties either in downtown Portland or at Washington Square.  This new 
demand is induced into the market during the first two years of operation of the 
proposed Embassy Suites. 

 
Collectively, our estimates indicate demand growth in future years equal to 5.0 percent 
compounded annually, which is considerably higher than the 2.9 percent annual growth in 
demand achieved during the 2008 to 2013 historical period, when no new additions to supply 
occurred.  Our projections include a total of roundly 147,000 new room nights of demand 
entering the competitive market.  This amount is fairly evenly divided between underlying 
growth in demand and induced demand.   
 
Based on our analysis, we project the market occupancy rate will begin to decline in 2014 with 
the first wave of new hotels opening in the market and this decline will increase considerably in 
the following years as the full impact of over 700 new rooms are added to the market.  We 
project that market occupancies will decline to a low of roundly 64 percent in 2016, before 
gradually increasing in subsequent years to approximately 72 percent at the end of our projection 
period.   
 
The following table summarizes historical lodging market conditions between 2008 and 2013 
together with our projection of future market conditions from 2014 through 2020.    
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 62 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 17 
 

 

  
 

Findings and Recommendations 
 
Based on our research and analysis, we do not find adequate support for lodging development in 
North Plains at the present time.  Clearly, the broader market is expected to receive an 
unprecedented level of supply growth in the near term and this will drive occupancies down 

MARKET SUPPLY: 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Courtyard by Marriott 155 155 155 155 155 155 155 155 155 155 155 155 155
DoubleTree (Phoenix) 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98
Fairfield Inn & Suites 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106
Hilton Garden Inn 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150
Holiday Inn Express 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86
Homewood Suites 123 123 123 123 123 123 123 123 123 123 123 123 123
Larkspur Landing 124 124 124 124 124 124 124 124 124 124 124 124 124
Residence Inn 122 122 122 122 122 122 122 122 122 122 122 122 122
SpringHill Suites 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106 106
TownePlace Suites 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136
BW University Inn 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54

Proposed 
Hampton Inn & Suites 53 106 106 106 106 106 106
Embassy Suites 28 165 165 165 165 165 165
Residence Inn 82 140 140 140 140 140
Home-2 by Hilton 43 130 130 130 130 130
Holiday Inn/Candlewood 17 200 200 200 200 200

   Average Daily Rooms 1,260 1,260 1,260 1,260 1,260 1,260 1,341 1,674 2,001 2,001 2,001 2,001 2,001
   Annual Room Nights 459,900 459,900 459,900 459,900 459,900 459,900 489,469 610,835 730,365 730,365 730,365 730,365 730,365
   Percentage Change 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.4% 24.8% 19.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
CAAGR 

MARKET DEMAND:
Corporate/Government Demand 256,100 266,000 285,250 313,080 330,310 338,570 347,030 353,970
Underlying Change 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.0%
Unsatisfied & Induced Demand 3,500 12,600 20,700 9,400 0 0 0

Group/Meeting Demand 55,000 56,900 61,840 68,780 72,360 73,810 75,290 76,420
Underlying Change 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 1.5%
Unsatisfied & Induced Demand 800 3,800 5,700 2,200 0 0 0

Tourist/Leisure Demand 65,200 67,600 74,050 83,130 87,690 89,440 91,230 92,600
Underlying Change 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 1.5%
Unsatisfied & Induced Demand 1,100 5,100 7,600 2,900 0 0 0

Total Demand 326,829 303,296 338,766 358,894 372,084 376,300 390,500 421,140 464,990 490,360 501,820 513,550 522,990
Total Change (23,533) 35,470 20,128 13,190 4,216 14,200 30,640 43,850 25,370 11,460 11,730 9,440
Percent Change -7.2% 11.7% 5.9% 3.7% 1.1% 4.9% 7.8% 10.4% 5.5% 2.3% 2.3% 1.8%
CAAGR 

OCCUPANCY: 71% 66% 74% 78% 81% 82% 80% 69% 64% 67% 69% 70% 72%

Note:  This table is presented subject to the comments contained in the attached report.

70%75%

Calendar Years

6.9%

5.0%

Calendar Years

0.0%

2.9%

Historical And Projected Changes In Market Supply & Demand
Projected Performance

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 63 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 18 
 

 

significantly for several years, eventually stabilizing at a more moderate level over the long term.  
Furthermore, as new and better-quality hotels become increasingly available in central locations, 
compression of demand outside the market will slow or cease and the relative impact of the new 
rooms supply will be greater for those properties located in peripheral areas of the market, such 
as Forest Grove (or North Plains if it had a hotel).    
 
Conceptually, one can envision North Plains as being located near the edge of a vortex, which is 
Hillsboro, and within that vortex can be found most of the major demand generators in the 
market, along with a full complement of services necessary to accommodate and support this 
demand.  For peripheral locations such as North Plains, or even Forest Grove, dislodging 
demand from within the vortex can be extremely difficult and if ancillary support services such 
as restaurants and similar amenities are also lacking, this challenge can become nearly 
insurmountable.  With nearly all brands and price-points represented in the Hillsboro market, 
distinguishing North Plains based on a unique product offering will be both difficult and risky, 
whereas competing on the basis of rate alone is essentially a race to the bottom and therefore; a 
non-viable solution.   
 
Based on our interviews in North Plains, the volume of commercial demand being produced by 
local businesses is modest at best and is insufficient to support new hotel development at this 
time.  Conversely, Pumpkin Ridge and Hornings Hideout each produce sizeable volumes of 
leisure demand although this tends to be concentrated during summer months, predominantly 
over weekends.  Given the highly seasonal patterns of this demand, it too would be considered 
insufficient to support new lodging development at this time.  We consider each of these to be 
contributing components of demand but they would need to be combined with a substantial 
outside source of commercial demand in order to support a new hotel.  
 
In our opinion, the viability of lodging development in North Plains will likely hinge on future 
developments in Hillsboro and the eventual development of the large acreage parcels recently 
added at the western edge of the UGB, between Brookwood Parkway and Jackson School Road.  
In the event that these parcels are eventually developed with a major user, similar in scope to that 
described earlier as ‘Project Azalea’, we believe this could effectively create a new centroid in 
the market, as key demand generators become increasingly concentrated at the western edge of 
Hillsboro and thereby potentially drawing North Plains into the vortex.  At that time, together 
with the various components of local demand noted above, North Plains could potentially 
support a moderately sized hotel, likely in the 60-70 room range, preferably of moderate price 
and quality, maybe Best Western or similar.  In the meantime, it would be prudent to continue to 
expand your base of ancillary support services in the market, with particular emphasis in the 
commercial corridor near US-26 along Glencoe Road.   
 
 

Alternative Site Options 
 
Within North Plains, we considered numerous sites for potential development.  In our opinion, 
the sites most likely to be viable for hotel development in the future are outlined and ranked in 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 64 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 19 
 

 

order of desirability in the following graphic.  Because most lodging properties cater primarily to 
travelers to the local area, be it for business or pleasure, lodging facilities are typically sited near 
primary transportation corridors, proximate to major demand generators.  Given the relative lack 
of major demand generators in the North Plains market, transportation features likely would 
govern site selection in the local market, thereby suggesting sites near the interchange with US-
26.   
 
Sites 1 and 2 would not likely have significant visibility from US-26, but with multi-story 
construction and typical building signage, would be readily visible from the overpass and exit 
ramps.  Both sites 1 and 2 would benefit from direct access from Glencoe Road, with additional 
access from secondary streets, Highland Court or Pacific Street.  Given their similarities, the 
individual rankings primarily reflect proximity to US-26.  Site 3 is located immediately west of 
McDonald’s on Highland Court and while this site would benefit from direct visibility to US-26, 
it may be somewhat less desirable due to McDonald’s traffic and potentially more difficult 
access at Glencoe Road.  Signalization of this intersection could potentially mitigate this 
deficiency.  We also note that the SE and SW quadrants of the interchange of US-26 at Glencoe 
Road, while not currently in the city or appropriately zoned, could also be potentially viable sites 
for lodging development in the future.   
 

 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 65 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 20 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 GENERAL ASSUMPTIONS 
 
 
This feasibility study report has been prepared under the following general assumptions: 
 
 

♦ No responsibility is assumed for matters of a legal nature. 
 

♦ Responsible ownership and competent property management are assumed. 
 

♦ The information provided by others is believed to be reliable.  However, no warranty 
is given for its accuracy. 

 
♦ All engineering is assumed to be correct.  The plot plans and illustrative material in 

this report are included only to assist the reader in visualizing the property. 
 

♦ It is assumed there are no hidden or inapparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or 
structures that render it more or less useful.  No responsibility is assumed for such 
conditions or for arranging for engineering studies that may be required to discover 
them. 

 
♦ Full compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local environmental 

regulations and laws is assumed. 
 

♦ Full compliance with all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions is 
assumed. 

 
♦ It is assumed that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents, or other 

legislative or administrative authority from any local, state, or national government 
or private entity or organization have been or can be obtained. 

 
♦ It is assumed that the utilization of the land and improvements is within the 

boundaries or property lines of the property described and that there is no 
encroachment or trespass. 

 
  

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 66 of 96



 
 

 
 
 

KM#14-007 

 
KENNEDY & MOHN, P.S. 

Hotel Brokerage, Consulting, & Appraisals 

 
 

Page 21 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

LIMITING CONDITIONS 
 
This feasibility study report has been prepared under the following general limiting conditions: 
 
♦ Possession of this report, or a copy thereof, does not carry with it the right of publication.  It 

may not be used for any purpose by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed 
without the written consent of Kennedy & Mohn, P.S., and in any event only with proper 
written qualification and only in its entirety. 

 
♦ Kennedy & Mohn, P.S., is not required to give further consultation, testimony, or be in 

attendance in court with reference to this report unless arrangements have been previously 
made. 

 
♦ Projections of future revenue, expenses, net operating income, mortgage debt service, capital 

outlays, cash flow, or inflation represent our judgment of the assumptions likely to be used 
by informed persons in the marketplace.  These estimates are intended solely for analytical 
purposes and are not intended to accurately predict future results or events. Actual 
performance will differ from these projections, and these differences may be significant. 

 
♦ Estimates of project cost and operating performance are based on building plans and 

specifications provided by the client during the course of the study.  Cost figures are 
intended as approximations only, and should be verified by competent architectural and 
engineering firms.  In addition, to the extent that the eventual design and construction of the 
project vary from the plans and specifications provided, the actual development costs and 
operating performance of the project will differ from the estimates presented herein. 

 
♦ Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous substances, including 

without limitation asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum leakage, or agricultural 
chemicals, which may or may not be present on the property, or other environmental 
conditions, were not called to the attention of nor did the consultant become aware of such 
during the consultant's inspection.  The consultant has no knowledge of the existence of such 
materials on or in the property unless otherwise stated.  The consultant, however, is not 
qualified to test such substances or conditions. The presence of such substances, such as 
asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, or other hazardous substances or environmental 
conditions, may affect the feasibility of the project.  Our analysis is predicated on the 
assumption that there is no such condition on or in the property or in such proximity thereto.  
No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, nor for any expertise or engineering 
knowledge required to discover them. 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 67 of 96



 

Agenda Item No. 9G 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date: April 15, 2014 
To: City Council 
From: Martha DeBry, City Manager 
Subject: Resolution No.1832 Naming the Park on Curtis Street. 
 
 

Request:  Council consider names for the new park on Curtis Street 
 
Background:  The City recently accepted the park on Curtis Street between Pacific and 
Highland Court.   
 
North Plains City Council adopted a policy for naming parks in 2011 which is attached.  
 
Recommendation:  Council adopt Resolution No.1832 naming the park on Curtis Street. 
 
Sample Motions: 
I move to adopt Resolution No. 1832 selecting (name) as the name of the park on Curtis 
Street. 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 68 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 69 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 70 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 71 of 96



 
Resolution No. 1832 
Adopted:  April 21, 2014 
Naming of Park on Curtis Street 

RESOLUTION NO. 1832 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, ESTABLISHING A NAME FOR THE NEW PARK ON CURTIS STREET 

AND PLACEMENT OF PARK NAME PLAQUE 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City has recently obtained a new park and that was developed as 
part of public improvements of a subdivision on Curtis Street in North Plains; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined to establish a policy for naming of 
City parks and placement of park name signage; and 

 
WHEREAS, citizens of North Plains have been given an opportunity to submit 

suggestions on the City’s social network page; and 
 

WHEREAS, the North Plains City Council discussed submitted suggestions and 
deliberated on the name of the new park. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1: The name of the park located on Curtis Street will be 
__________________.  The plaque for the park will be 
installed by Public Works.  

 
Section 2: This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption by the City Council. 
 

INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of April 2014. 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
BY:  _____________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
BY:  ______________________________________ 

Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 72 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 73 of 96

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item No: 9H

mreh
Typewritten Text
March Check Register: Auto Pays



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 74 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 75 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 76 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 77 of 96

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item No: 9H

mreh
Typewritten Text
March Check Register: Manual Checks



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 78 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 79 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 80 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 81 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 82 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 83 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 84 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 85 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 86 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 87 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 88 of 96



_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 89 of 96



 

Page 1 of 4 
Moratorium of Medical Marijuana Facilities 

 

Agenda Item No: 11A 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date: April 17, 2014 

To: City Council 

From: Martha DeBry, City Manager 

Subject: Second Reading and Adoption of Ordinance No. 422 Temporarily 
Prohibiting the Location of Medical Marijuana Facilities within the City of 
North Plains 

 

Request:  Council to consider and adopt Ordinance No. 422 – An Ordinance of the City 
Council of the City of North Plains, Oregon, temporarily prohibiting the location of 
medical marijuana facilities within the City of North Plains.  First reading by title only 
took place on 04/07/14. 
 
Background: State law recently enacted allows medical marijuana facilities to be 
located in areas zoned as for commercial, industrial or mixed use.  Key provisions in 
State law are: 

 No dispensary may open or operate within 1,000 feet of a primary or secondary 
school 

 No dispensary may open or operate within 1,000 feet of another dispensary. 
Applications for competing locations will be processed on a first-come, first-

served basis 
 Dispensaries must be located only in areas zoned commercial, industrial or 

agriculture.  
 All medical marijuana distributed through dispensaries must be tested for 

pesticides, mold and mildew, and may not be distributed if contaminants are 
found 

 There must be a strong security system in place 
 All product brought into and dispensed from the facility must be accounted for 
 The Oregon Health Authority will visit and inspect each dispensary and audit its 

financial records at least once a year 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 90 of 96



 

Page 2 of 4 
Moratorium of Medical Marijuana Facilities 

For North Plains, the 1,000 feet of a primary school extends to the west and north of 
Main and Hillcrest, and west and north of 318th and Commercial.   

The law also prohibits location within 1,000 feet of schools classified as “Career – 

private, proprietary, professional, technical, business or other schools of instruction, 

organizations or persons offering any instruction or training for the purpose or purported 

purpose of instruction, training or preparing persons for any profession at a physical 

location attended primarily by minors.”  If the City can define pre-schools or Montessori 
schools as career school then technically no place on Commercial Street and most of 
Glencoe are prohibited from hosting dispensaries.   The remaining locations where 
dispensaries can be located are industrial areas to the west of 318th/320th and south of 
Commercial or north of West Union. 

 

Many local agencies are struggling with interpreting this new rule, and incorporating it 
into existing zoning ordinances.  At present it is not an outright permitted use within the 
City, but would have to be considered as a conditional use.  Twenty one (21) Oregon 
Cities (including Cave Junction, Clatskanie, Culver, Dallas, Fairview, Falls City, Grants 
Pass, Gresham, Harrisburg, Hermiston, John Day, Madras, Medford, Redmond, Sandy, 
Scappoose, Stayton, Toledo, Wilsonville, Winston and Wood Village) have implemented 
rules that effectively ban medical marijuana dispensaries, and another fourteen (14) 
have implemented moratoriums including Baker City, Beaverton, Coos Bay, Cornelius, 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 91 of 96



 

Page 3 of 4 
Moratorium of Medical Marijuana Facilities 

Dayton, Florence, Gladstone, Hillsboro, Milwaukie, North Bend, Phoenix, Tualatin, 
Tigard and Sherwood.  

Under Senate Bill 1531 local governments have until May 1, 2014 to enact a 
moratorium, which must expire by May 1, 2015. 

The City of Hillsboro recently adopted an ordinance similar to the draft Ordinance 
included in the Council packet.  This version provides a moratorium for 240 days versus 
120 days.  If adopted, the North Plains ordinance would need to be updated in the 
future. 

In February, Washington County Law Enforcement Council, on which Police Chief Bill 
Snyder serves as Vice Chair, provided the following announcement:   

"It is the position of the Washington County Law Enforcement Council 

(LEC) to oppose the establishment of Medical Marijuana Dispensaries 

within the city and county limits of Washington County. The possession, 

distribution, and manufacture of marijuana, although permissible under 

provisions of the Oregon Medical Marijuana Program (OMMP) and related 

statutes and rules, are a violation of Federal Law. 

While the member agencies of LEC will consistently and fairly enforce 

established laws and ordinances of our communities, we believe the 

proliferation of marijuana use and availability outside the scope of the 

OMMP is a serious public health concern and has negative implications for 

the welfare of our community. We believe expanding the availability of 

marijuana, even under the auspices of the OMMP, will harm the general 

welfare of our community because of the significant potential to increase 

marijuana use among our youth, place a higher burden on emergency room 

care, drug treatment and other health care systems, increase marijuana-

related exposure cases, and increase illegal interstate drug trafficking. 

Marijuana impairment doubles the risk of deadly traffic crashes and is a 

major causal factor in high school dropouts. 

We believe medical marijuana dispensaries will have additional potential 

negative secondary effects on the community. These secondary effects 

include, but are not limited to the following: criminal activity, loitering, 

increased traffic, noise, litter, and a loss of trade for other businesses 

located nearby by interference. Local government control of land use and 

organized development helps promote local community values. 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 92 of 96



 

Page 4 of 4 
Moratorium of Medical Marijuana Facilities 

The member agencies of LEC have an ethical duty and statutory obligation 

to ensure the safety of our communities. Medical marijuana dispensaries 

are harmful to the surrounding community and its residents and constitute 

a public nuisance contrary to our community values which support 

Washington County as a safe place to live, work, and raise a family." 

Mayor Hatcher suggested that this issue be presented to Council for consideration, as 
Washington County communities share a tradition of adopting rules that are supportive 
of each other.  With six (6) cities already imposing moratoriums, it would be prudent for 
North Plains to align its policies with the neighboring agencies.  The larger cities of 
Hillsboro, Tualatin and Sherwood are taking a lead in vetting policies and ordinances.  
Staff recommends that Council discuss its approach to the medical marijuana issue.  
Beaverton has already adopted both an ordinance and moratorium.  

Helpful links that explain the State law in more detail are below: 

State Statute:  http://www.oregon.gov/osp/des/docs/med_mj_patient_info.pdf  

Rules for dispensaries: http://www.oregon.gov/oha/mmj/Pages/rules.aspx  

Dispensary registration: 

http://www.oregonlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2014/03/medical_marijuana_in_oregon

_nu.html  

Status of regulations in other communities: 

http://www.oregonlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2014/03/medical_marijuana_in_oregon

_wh.html  

Fiscal Impact: The ordinance will not have any direct fiscal impact on the City.  At this 
time there are no dispensaries, or any requests to locate dispensaries in town.  The City 
also has no special permits or taxes associated with marijuana dispensary.   

Environmental Issues:  NA 

Recommendation: Council read Ordinance No. 422 temporarily prohibiting the location 
of medical marijuana facilities within the City of North Plains by title only for the second 
time and adopt the ordinance. 

Sample Motion: I move to read Ordinance No. 422 by title only for the second time. 

Mayor to read title: Ordinance No. 422: On Ordinance of the City of North Plains, 

Oregon, Temporarily Prohibiting the Location of Medical Marijuana Facilities within the 

City of North Plains. 

Sample Motion: I move to adopt Ordinance No. 422 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 93 of 96

http://www.oregon.gov/osp/des/docs/med_mj_patient_info.pdf
http://www.oregon.gov/oha/mmj/Pages/rules.aspx
http://www.oregonlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2014/03/medical_marijuana_in_oregon_nu.html
http://www.oregonlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2014/03/medical_marijuana_in_oregon_nu.html
http://www.oregonlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2014/03/medical_marijuana_in_oregon_wh.html
http://www.oregonlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2014/03/medical_marijuana_in_oregon_wh.html


Ordinance No. 422 

Adopted: April 21, 2014 

Marijuana Facilities 

Page 1 of 2 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 422 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, TEMPORARILY 
PROHIBITING THE LOCATION OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA FACILITIES WITHIN 

THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
 

WHEREAS, in the 2013 Special Session, the Oregon Legislature approved 
House Bill 3460 which creates a medical marijuana registration system and allows for 
medical marijuana facilities to be located in areas zoned for commercial, industrial, or 
mixed use; and 

 
WHEREAS, House Bill 3460 also includes further specific restrictions on the 

location of medical marijuana facilities related to proximity to schools attended by 
minors and to other medical marijuana facilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, this use and these restrictions are not currently included in North 

Plains Municipal Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission will shortly begin the process of 
amending the zoning ordinances to add zoning regulations for medical marijuana 
facilities, a process expected to take up to eight months, and 

 
WHEREAS, the North Plains City Council believes that siting medical 

marijuana facilities within the City absent zoning regulations endangers the health, 
peace, and welfare of the City of North Plains. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS ORDAINS AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Effective with the adoption of this ordinance, no 
person shall site a medical marijuana facility 
(as described in House Bill 3460 of the 2013 
Oregon Special Legislative Session) within the 
city limits of North Plains. 

 
Section 2. The prohibition on siting of medical marijuana 

facilities shall be in effect until May 1, 2015 or 
the effective date of an adopted amendment 
to the Municipal Code establishing zoning 
regulations for such facilities, whichever occurs 
first. 

 
Section 3. The City Manager is charged with enforcement 

of this temporary prohibition. 
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 94 of 96



Ordinance No. 422 

Adopted: April 21, 2014 

Marijuana Facilities 

Page 2 of 2 

 

INTRODUCED on the 7th day of April 2014, AND ADOPTED 
this 21st day of April 2014. 

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________________ 

Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 
 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 95 of 96



May 2014 Council Calendar 
 

Meeting Primary Alternate Note Date 

City Wide Garage Sale  
Saturday—all over North 
Plains 

05/03 

BBQ on the Porch   
North Plains Senior 
Center 10:30-2:00 

05/03 

North Plains Community 
Garden Club Plant Sale 

  
Jessie Mays Community 
Park 8:00-4:00 

05/03 

City Council   
7:00 p.m. at Jessie 
Mays Community Hall 

05/05 

May Clean-Up Day   Jessie Mays at 8:00 a.m. 05/10 

Spring Opening of the North 
Plains Community Garden 

  
Commercial Street at the 
Community Gardens 
1:00 p.m. 

05/10 

Mother’s Day 05/11 

Washington County Office of 
Community Development 
Policy Advisory Board 

Kindel Demagalski 2nd Thursday @ 7 p.m. 05/08 

Planning Commission Newton  2nd Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 05/14 

Washington County 
Coordinating Committee 
(WCCC) 

Hatcher DeBry 2nd Monday @  12 noon 05/12 

Library Board- (CANCELLED) Warren 3rd Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 05/21 

City Council    
7:00 p.m. at Jessie 
Mays Community Hall 

05/19 

Sandy River Rafting Trip   
Advanced registration 
required. Taking off from 
Jessie Mays at 8:30 a.m. 

05/24 

Metro Policy Advisory 
Committee (MPAC) 

Hatcher  4th Wednesday @ 5 p.m. 05/28 

Parks Board  4th Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 05/28 

Metropolitan Area 
Communications Commission 
(MACC) 

Warren Demagalski   

 

_____________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, April 21, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 96 of 96


	4A 042114 Preliminary Agenda
	4A 040714 Minutes
	9A Memo Salary Range Schedule 2014-15 Res No. 1828
	9A Resolution No 1828 Salary Range Schedule 2014-15
	9B Memo Resolution No. 1829 Appointing Planning Commissioner-Eimer
	9B2 Application for Planning Commission-Garth Eimers
	9B3 Resolution Number 1829 Appointment to Planning Commission
	9C Ordinance No. 317 - Signed Granting a non-exclusive gas utlity franchise with NW Natural Gas
	9C Resolution Number 1830 Extending nw natural Franchise
	9D Memo Res No. 1831 NPEA NPGF Intellectual property
	9D Resolution No. 1831 NPEA NPEGF and intellectual property
	9E Memo Event Donation Policy
	9E Policy 180 Event Donations
	9F Memo hotel
	9F2 14-007 - North Plains hotel study
	9G Memo Res No. 1832 Naming Curtis Street Park
	9G Park Naming Policy
	9G Res. No. 1832-Naming Park on Curtis Street
	9H March Check Register Auto Pay
	9H March Check Register Manual Checks
	11A Memo Ordinance No. 422 Moratorium of Medical Marijauna facilities
	11A Ordinance Draft No. 422 marijuana
	13 Calendar May 2014



